
Growth & Prosperity Scrutiny Panel 
Dear Member,
You are invited to attend the meeting of the Growth & Prosperity Scrutiny Panel to be 
held as follows for the transaction of the business indicated.
Miranda Carruthers-Watt 
Proper Officer

DATE: Monday, 27 January 2020

TIME: 6.00 pm (Briefing for Panel Members to commence at 5.30pm)

VENUE: Salford Suite, Salford Civic Centre, Chorley Road, Swinton

In accordance with ‘The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 
2014,’ the press and public have the right to film, video, photograph or record 
this meeting. 

AGENDA

1  Apologies for absence. 

2  Declarations of interest. 

3  Revenue and Capital Budget Monitoring 2019/20. (Pages 1 - 10)

4  Place Service Group Performance Report. (Pages 11 - 24)

5  Update Report on Greater Manchester's Clean Air Plan: Tackling 
Nitrogen Dioxide Exceedances at the Roadside. 

(Pages 25 - 42)

6  Item for information: Summary Update on Development across 
Salford Quays. 

(Pages 43 - 58)

7  Minutes of previous meeting. (Pages 59 - 64)

8  Work Programme. (Pages 65 - 66)

9  Any other business. 

10  Date and time of next meeting - Monday 24 February 2020, 
6.00pm (Briefing for Panel Members at 5.30pm). 

Contact Officer: Tel No: 0161 793 2602
Claire Edwards, Democratic Services, 
claire.edwards@salford.gov.uk

E-Mail: claire.edwards@salford.gov.uk

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



PART 1
Open to the Public

 

REPORT OF THE STRATEGIC DIRECTOR FOR PLACE

TO THE GROWTH & PROSPERITY SCRUTINY PANEL
ON 27TH JANUARY 2020

TITLE:  REVENUE AND CAPITAL BUDGET MONITORING  2019/20

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

It is recommended that the Panel:
 Note the current position and forecasted position to year end for the Service Group’s 

revenue budget and capital programme.
 Note the progress made towards the agreed savings programme.
 Note further measures to bring forecast expenditure back in line with the budget.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 

(a) Revenue
The Service Group budget for 2019/20 is £46.330m with forecast expenditure for the year of 
£46.463m, providing an adverse variance of £0.133m at year end. 

(b) Savings 
The Service Group agreed Comprehensive Spending Review (CSR) savings for the year total 
£1.651m, with all of the £1.127m showing as either achieved or low risk. 

(c) Capital
The Service Group programme budget for 2019/20 is £103.128m, which reflects an increase to the 
programme of £0.142m since last reported.

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS: 
 SAP general ledger and BI reports
 Various documents held on the accountancy team

CONTACT OFFICERS: 
Paul Hutchings (Revenue) 0161 793 2574 paul.hutchings@salford.gov.uk
Alex Archer (Capital) 0161 778 0498 alex.archer@salford.gov.uk
Janet Cross (Revenue) 0161 793 2858 janet.cross@salford.gov.uk 

ASSESSMENT OF RISK:  High 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3

mailto:paul.hutchings@salford.gov.uk
mailto:alex.archer@salford.gov.uk
mailto:janet.cross@salford.gov.uk


2

Key risks to budgetary control risk and achievement of savings are identified in this report 

SOURCE OF FUNDING: Sections in this report consider both the revenue budget and capital programme

LEGAL ADVICE OBTAINED: Not applicable

FINANCIAL ADVICE OBTAINED:   This report concerns key aspects of the Council’s revenue finances and 
has been produced by the Finance division.

WARD(S) TO WHICH REPORT RELATE(S): None specifically 

KEY COUNCIL POLICIES: 2019/20 revenue budget; 2019/20 capital programme

Page 2



3

1     Introduction

1.1 This report is set out in three main sections. 
• Section 2 sets out the current position of expenditure against the revenue budget and forecasts the 

year end position, highlighting any risks/sensitivities, and revenue budget virements proposed.
• Section 3 provides an analysis of progress made towards agreed CSR savings targets.
• Section 4 provides an update of the capital programme.

2      Revenue Budget

2.1 The current position and year end forecast are set out in Table A below. Agreed savings (discussed 
in section 3) have been built into the budget figures. Expenditure data reflects salaries and other 
expenditure up to 30/11/2019.  

2.2     Table A: Revenue budget to November 2019

2.3   Set out below are those areas which have been identified as currently representing the greatest risks   
in budgetary control. These include areas where there is a high current and/or projected variance 
and/or a high risk of not achieving CSR savings targets. 

Planning and Transport

The £0.940m positive variance reported is due in the main to a positive variation on income specifically 
in respect of planning, advertising on the highways and streetworks. Some major planning applications 
and the delay in the partial closure of Stott Lane car park has increased the income forecast within 
Planning & Transport.

Housing, Communities and Neighbourhoods

The £0.306m adverse variance is mainly due to the underachievement of corporate Transformation 
Integrated Place savings.

Annual 
Budget 
£000

Forecast 
Outturn 
£000

Forecast 
Variation 
£000

Risk Assessment

Planning & Transport 16,342 15,402 940 GREEN
Housing, Communities & 
Neighbourhoods 908 1,215 (306) RED
Environment & 
Community Safety 16,631 17,045 (413) RED

Culture & Leisure 6,475 6,611 (136) RED

Regeneration 7,038 7,106 (68) RED

Property (1,063) (914) (149) RED

Total 46,330 46,463 (133)

Page 3



4

Environment and Community Safety

The £0.413m reported adverse variance is due in the main to a combination of unachieveable previous 
years’ Transformation savings targets within Grounds Maintenance, Street Scene and Waste Services 
of £0.487m and a Public Health saving of £0.100m. This has been offset in part by underspends across 
the wider service group and work remains on-going to mitigate this overspend in year and to address 
the achievement of the savings going forward.

Culture and Leisure

The £0.136m adverse variance relates to pressures on the Gateway library savings. This continues to 
be discussed corporately with colleagues in Service Reform, in an attempt to resolve the savings target 
before year end.    

Regeneration

The £0.068m reported adverse variance relates to a £0.100m forecasted overspend on the ‘The 
Landing’ as identified in the business plan. This has been offset in part by underspends across the 
wider service group.

Property

The £0.149m negative variance on Property is due in the main to a forecasted overspend on repairs 
and maintenance of corporate buildings and underachievement of income on Salford University Park. 
Discussions are ongoing to help mitigate some of the issues. 

3 Savings

3.1 Approved ‘new’ savings for the Service Group agreed during the 2019/20 budget setting process 
totalled £1.127m.  Progress to date is summarised in Table B below.  A more detailed breakdown is 
provided in Appendix 1.

 
3.2 Table B Savings summary

  Saving Progress Shortfall 

Risk Assessment RAG Rating
Target   
£000

to date          
£000

to date    
£000

Low risk or already achieved Green 1,057 1,057 0
Medium Risk Amber 70 0 70
High Risk Red 0 0 0
Total  1,127 1,057 70

3.3   All 2019/20 savings have been rated as achieved or highly likely to be achieved given current estimates, 
as £0.070m relates to the generation of additional income this has been assessed as medium risk 
whilst being closely monitored to ensure that income does in fact come in.

Page 4



5

4   Capital

4.1 Introduction
This section advises the Panel of developments regarding the Place Capital programme, which as of 
November 2019 totals £103.128m.

4.2 2019/20 Capital Programme

The Panel are asked to consider and comment on the current Place Capital programme, analysed by 
service area in Table C.

Table C – Programme and Expenditure November  2019

Scheme Group Invest to 
Save

Unsupported
borrowing

Grant Contributions 
(inc. capital
receipts)

Approved 
Programme
2019-20

Spend to 
November 
2019

£m £m £m £m £m £m
Regeneration - 13.904 10.853 0.277 25.034 12.722
Housing - Regulatory Services - 3.619 0.418 - 4.037 0.736
Housing and Planning 0.800 6.654 0.090 2.930 10.474 1.083
Property 42.549 4.555 0.145 - 47.249 24.048
Environment - 4.911 0.148 0.313 5.372 1.149
Highways - 4.824 4.543 0.010 9.377 3.468
Salford Community Leisure 0.030 1.230 0.294 0.031 1.585 0.309

43.379 39.698 16.490 3.561 103.128 43.516

Appendix 2 provides a detailed scheme analysis of the programme by funding source. 

4.2 Adjustments to the Programme

Variations

Since last reported, the programme has increased by £0.142m, which is mainly due to an increase in 
S106 funding for a number of parks improvement schemes across the city.

Virements

Further to approval from the Lead Member for Finance and Support Services on the 24th October 
2019, £1.294m in unsupported borrowing has been vired from Regeneration to Environment, to 
support the delivery of the Fleet Replacement Programme.

4.3  Issues/Risks
At this stage of the financial year there are no issues to be highlighted. The programme will continue to 
be closely monitored to ensure any potential spend pressures are identified at the earliest opportunity 
and that re-profiling of schemes is reported in future months.

4.4 Recommendation
The Panel are requested to review the current position regarding the 2019/20 capital programme.

Page 5



6

Appendix 1 – Budget Savings Tracker 2019/20

2019/20 Budget Savings tracker
Tracker 

Ref Description
2019/20

£m
PL401 Commercial Services (fees and charges)

This proposal will see fees & charges increased in line with inflation 0.112

PL403 Procurement of waste food bags
Re-procurement of bio-degradeable food waste bags. 0.045

PL406 Vehicle Management Services - one off hire contract saving 
Extension period of tipper hire agreement with Urban Vision to February 2020 0.080

PL407 Premises licensing fees 
Review of fees & charges in to reflect changes in rateable values 0.020

PL408 Citywide catering charges 
Increase in scholl meal charges by 10p, Salford still remains one of the lowest in GM 0.107

PL409 Football pitch line markings 
Pitch line marking to be carried out by a private contractor 0.050

PL410 Bus Lane Enforcement
Service to be brought back in house from Manchester City Council. 0.039

PL411 VER/VS - 1 post
Reduction in management costs through VER. 0.044

PL412 Eccles Town Team 
Removal of historic Eccles Town Team revenue grant 0.027

PL413 Removal of Eccles portaloo
Removal of Eccles portaloo as contract expires on 1st March 2019 0.020

PL414 On street car parking reserves
One off removal of car parking reserve 0.100

PL415 Highways Advertising 
Opportunity for additional income from local advertising opportunities 0.075

PL416 School crossing patrol 0.050
PL417 Media City Metrolink

One off release of surplus which has accrued over last 18 months. 0.093

PL418 Review of Pest Control
Review of charges to provide additional income. 0.065

PL419 Highways efficiencies
Efficiency gains achieved by UV highway maintenenace services in respect of 
Confirm system from annual licence fees and network charges. 0.045

PL420 Greater Manchester Road Activities Permit Scheme (GMRAPS)
One off saving in relation to increase in number of permits being issued together with 
a reduction in costs.

0.100

PL421 Increase S38 / S278 admin fees from 8% to 10% 0.030
PL422 Reduction in sponsorship to BBC Philharmonic

0.025

 Place total 1.127

Page 6



Appendix 2 Capital Programme 2019/20

Scheme Group Sub area Invest to 
Save

Unsupported
borrowing

Grant Contributions 
(inc. capital
receipts)

Approved 
Programme

2019-20

Spend to 
November 

2019
Regeneration Pre implementation - Regeneration - 0.156 0.001 - 0.157 0.095
Regeneration Pre implementation - Infrastructure - 0.332 - - 0.332 0.088
Regeneration City Centre - 1.991 0.229 0.049 2.270 1.318
Regeneration Ordsall and Salford Quays - 0.328 2.867 - 3.195 0.535
Regeneration Western Gateway - 0.052 0.001 - 0.053 0.012
Regeneration Town centres - 0.538 - 0.050 0.588 0.214
Regeneration RHS Bridgewater - 7.950 1.424 - 9.374 7.441
Regeneration Strategic Connections - 0.848 6.330 0.013 7.191 1.915
Regeneration Strategic Place Making - 0.329 - 0.164 0.493 0.283
Regeneration Capitalised salaries and project costs - 1.381 - - 1.381 0.821
Housing - Regulatory Services Home Improvement Agency - 0.191 - - 0.191 0.061
Housing - Regulatory Services Winter Welfare - 0.084 - - 0.084 -
Housing - Regulatory Services Affordable warmth - 0.124 0.008 - 0.132 0.068
Housing - Regulatory Services Handyperson - 0.354 - - 0.354 0.222
Housing - Regulatory Services Project Development Costs - 0.252 - - 0.252 0.009
Housing - Regulatory Services Salford Money Line - 0.040 - - 0.040 0.020
Housing - Regulatory Services Housing Project Costs - 0.505 - - 0.505 0.146
Housing - Regulatory Services Landlord Accreditation - 0.005 - - 0.005 0.003
Housing - Regulatory Services DCLG Cluster - 0.010 - - 0.010 -
Housing - Regulatory Services Empty properties - 0.150 0.410 - 0.560 0.057
Housing - Regulatory Services Housing enforcement - 1.430 - - 1.430 0.073
Housing - Regulatory Services Housing crime reduction - 0.355 - - 0.355 0.070
Housing - Regulatory Services CPO - 0.119 - - 0.119 0.007
Housing and Planning Creating a new Pendleton - 1.944 - - 1.944 0.463
Housing and Planning Beechfarm - - - - - -
Housing and Planning Disabled Facilities work - - - 0.150 0.150 0.067
Housing and Planning Tower block safety works - 4.000 - - 4.000 0.144
Housing and Planning Housing Delivery - - - - - -
Housing and Planning Derive 0.800 - - 2.780 3.580 0.032
Housing and Planning 101 HRA new builds - - - - - -
Housing and Planning Housing & Planning capitalised costs - 0.710 - - 0.710 0.338
Housing and Planning Housing strategy - - 0.090 - 0.090 0.039
Property Low carbon (carbon management) - 0.502 - - 0.502 0.165
Property Car Parking - 0.105 - - 0.105 0.002
Property General - 3.751 0.035 - 3.786 0.647
Property Swinton Gateway - - - - - -
Property Swinton Demolitions - 0.197 0.110 - 0.307 0.217
Property 100 Embankment 42.549 - - - 42.549 22.947
Property Cost of disposals * - - - - - 0.070
Environment Greenspace & Streetscene Infrastructure - 1.047 0.148 0.004 1.198 0.616
Environment Parks S106 Schemes - - - 0.310 0.310 0.215
Environment Operational Division Schemes - 3.865 - - 3.865 0.319
Environment Bereavement - - - - - -
Highways Capitalisation of revenue - 2.301 - - 2.301 -
Highways Highways Investment Programme - 1.026 1.154 - 2.180 1.169
Highways Crash Barrier Programme (S) - 0.162 - - 0.162 0.139
Highways Drainage & Culvert Investment Programme - 0.476 - - 0.476 0.211
Highways Highways Capital Investment - - - - - -
Highways Flood Risk Management - - - - - -
Highways Construction schemes - 0.364 0.499 0.009 0.872 0.253
Highways Structures - 0.042 - - 0.042 -
Highways Signs and Bollards - 0.146 - - 0.146 0.021
Highways Highways Network Management - 0.032 - - 0.032 0.000
Highways Lighting Programme (High Mast) - 0.144 - - 0.144 0.008
Highways Overhead Contribution - - - - - -
Highways Pomona Wharf - - - - - 0.000
Highways SUDS - 0.100 - - 0.100 -
Highways Block 3 - 0.030 2.889 0.002 2.921 1.667
Salford Community Leisure Leisure Centre Equipment - 0.001 - - 0.001 0.001
Salford Community Leisure Worsley Leisure Centre Refurbishment - - - - - -
Salford Community Leisure Pendleton Leisure Centre - 0.425 - - 0.425 0.047
Salford Community Leisure Cleavley track - Synthetic Track Repair - 0.200 - - 0.200 0.014
Salford Community Leisure Playing Pitch Development - 0.005 - - 0.005 0.001
Salford Community Leisure Brookhouse Changing Rooms - 0.104 0.294 - 0.398 0.004
Salford Community Leisure Amblecote playing fields - 0.097 - - 0.097 -
Salford Community Leisure Salford Roosters Changing Rooms - 0.026 - - 0.026 0.008
Salford Community Leisure Cadishead Rhinos Changing Rooms - 0.013 - - 0.013 0.014
Salford Community Leisure Salford Sports Village - - - 0.021 0.021 -
Salford Community Leisure Cultural Development Schemes 0.030 0.359 - 0.010 0.399 0.220

43.379 39.698 16.490 3.561 103.128 43.516Page 7



Appendix 3 Agreed Re-profile of Capital Schemes to 2020-21

Sub area Scheme Name 2019-20 Re-
profile agreed 

BSG

Unsupported
borrowing

Grant Contributions 
(inc. capital
receipts)

Regeneration
Pre implementation - Regeneration Pre implementation - Regeneration 0.150 0.150
Pre implementation - Infrastructure Pre implementation - Infrastructure -
City Centre City Centre 1.089 1.089
Ordsall and Salford Quays Ordsall and Salford Quays 0.268 0.268
Western Gateway Western Gateway -
Town centres Town centres 0.468 0.468
Strategic Connections Strategic Connections 0.765 0.765
Strategic Place Making Strategic Place Making 0.197 0.197
Housing Reg Services
Empty property project costs Empty property project costs 0.149 0.149
Housing and Planning
Tower block safety works Tower block safety works - -
Derive Derive 0.606 - 0.606
Highways
Crash Barrier Programme (S) Crash Barrier Programme (S) 0.061 0.061
Construction schemes Construction schemes 0.175 0.175
Block 3 schemes Local Safety Schemes 0.750 0.750
Block 3 schemes Bridges and Structures 0.125 0.125
Block 3 schemes Highway Maintenance 0.002 0.002
Block 3 schemes Schemes to Assist Cyclists/Pedestrians 0.054 0.054
Block 3 schemes Other Minor Works 0.075 0.075
Block 3 schemes Devolved Community Schemes 0.740 0.740
Salford Community Leisure
Cleavley track - Synthetic Track Repair Cleavley track - Synthetic Track Repair 0.223 0.223
Playing Pitch Development Playing Pitch Development 0.012 0.012
Amblecote playing fields Amblecote playing fields 0.003 0.003
Salford Roosters Changing Rooms Salford Roosters Changing Rooms 0.680 0.274 0.378 0.028
Salford Museum & Art Gallery Salford Museum and Art Gallery 0.098 0.098

6.690 3.745 2.311 0.634

P
age 8



Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Place
Service Group Performance Meeting

Quarter 2/Half-year 2019-20

Friday 17 January 2020

Agenda

A. Performance Highlights

(Identified from Corporate Performance Framework 2019-20 performance measures (by exception) and 
information submitted by Service Groups)

1.  Update on actions from previous performance meeting
 

2. Highlights of progress in Quarter 2 2019-20

3. Areas where performance is not on target

 As at the end of Quarter 2 2019/20 all performance measures in the Place 
Service Group were either on target or above target.

B. Management Information

4. Employee absence and staffing – performance will be highlighted from HR Employee  
                                                                        Absence Update Report 

5. Budget monitoring/resources issues (by exception) – latest performance extracted from
             budget report as at the end of 

     September 2019

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



2

AHighlights of progress in Quarter 2 2019-20

Strategic Theme 2 - PLACE
Economic Development 
Lead Member Councillor Derek Antrobus/ Councillor David 

Lancaster
Lead Director Ben Dolan
Performance Overview – Highlights of progress in Quarters 1 and 2 2019-20

City Growth

High density residential developments to complete in Quarter 1 and 2 brought 779 new homes to the 
market, 2 schemes broke ground adding a further 200 new homes to the development pipeline and a 
further 4 schemes topped out totalling 1,215 new homes and 354,500 sq ft of commercial floor space to 
complete in 2020-21.

During Quarter 1 and Quarter 2, the Council received/invoiced £2,062,515.95 in Section 106 contributions 
from five developments.

City Centre Salford
 Local Blackfriars has been completed 22 weeks ahead of schedule. This is a £79m residential 

scheme that has delivered 399 one and two-bedroom apartments.
 The Council, in partnership with the University of Salford launched a formal process in May to 

appoint a developer partner for the 240 acre Crescent Masterplan area. A decision on the 
preferred partner is expected by the end of the year.

MediaCityUK and Salford Quays
 Vodafone opened its 5G enabled Digital Innovation Hub in June at The Landing, MediaCityUK to 

provide start-up companies and entrepreneurs with access to network experts, the latest 
technologies and high speed fibre.

 Work has started on the Lowry Outlet £26m Watergardens transformation project.  It will provide 
waterfront leisure and dining opportunities and is set to complete in 2020.

Inward investment
 In the first six months of 2019-20, MIDAS supported 17 projects to relocate to Greater Manchester 

which combined are forecast to create 676 jobs. Four of these projects have relocated to Salford 
and the Council’s Business Service has supported Shawbrook Bank to relocate to One New 
Bailey. The total for Quarter 1 and 2 is 5 inward investment projects to Salford that are forecast to 
create 259 jobs, valued at £16.6m GVA.

Servicing and maintaining a growing city
 Operationally, the all crime figure for Salford is at -8% and individual crime types are now seeing 

good reductions.  Due to changes in Greater Manchester Police systems we are only able to 
report on Quarter 1 figures.  The Community Safety Partnership has developed and approved a 
new three year Community Safety Strategy for 2020-23. Its main priorities are to: drive down 
crime, tackling anti-social behaviour, building resilient communities, protecting vulnerable people, 
and reducing offending. 

 Customer service excellence retained across Place Services with Vehicle Management Services 
most recently completing their assessment.  

 The percentage of household waste sent for recycling, reuse or composting has increased.  At the 
end of Quarter 2, performance is at 46.78%, exceeding the 2019-20 annual target set of 46%.

 In February, the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government announced an extra 
£9.7 million funding for local authorities to enhance parks and green spaces for the benefit of local 
communities. Salford Council has been awarded £43,832 to target parks in need of greatest repair 
and improvement that include Mandley Park in Broughton and Marlborough Road Play area in 
Irlam. 

Page 12



3

 The full Council meeting held on 17 July debated a motion to declare a climate emergency, which 
was carried unanimously.

Planned activity in Quarters 3 and 4

 A new multi-agency writing group has been set up to progress development of an Inclusive 
Economy and Insourcing Strategy for Salford. The writing group is meeting monthly with a view to 
developing a first draft of the Strategy by the end of the year.

 The Council is involved in the development of a draft strategy for culture and the arts for Salford 
led by The Lowry, involving all main public sector partners in the city. The strategy will be 
launched in the next few months.

Core Performance indicators – progress in Q1 and Q2 2019-20
Target Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Trend Rag 

rating
Creation of new jobs 600 This is an annual measure N/a

Amount of public sector investment 
secured

11 This is an annual measure N/a

Amount of private sector investment 
secured

330 This is an annual measure N/a

Reduction in the level of all crime 30,482 7,191
Percentage of household waste sent for 
recycling, reuse or composting

46% 47.12
%

46.78%
Remains 

above 
target

Street cleansing – Ensure that all the 
City’s adopted highways are Grade B+

100% 100% 100%

Core business plan actions – progress as at end of Q2 2019-20
Action Quarter 2/Half year update
PL.1920.05
Continue to ensure that the city Council is doing 
all it can to plan for, facilitate and enable new 
investment/development through Spatial Planning 
Framework, GMSF and section 106 agreements

Given a further delay to the GMSF (Greater Manchester Spatial 
Framework) until summer 2020 a decision has been made to progress the 
development management part of the local plan ahead of the GMSF. This 
will enable the city Council to have in place updated development 
management policies at the local level significantly earlier than if the 
timetable for the local plan was to continue to track the GMSF. 
During the reporting period Salford City Council received/invoiced 
£2,062,515.95 in Section 106 contributions from five developments, 
allocated £20,000 of Section 106 contributions to enable the delivery of 
projects which will reduce the impact of new development and signed three 
new Section 106 agreements securing a total value of £172,400. 
The single largest contribution was a payment of £845,000 relating to 
development at Newhaven Business Park. The monies received will be 
used to fund affordable housing, public realm improvements to Eccles 
Town Centre and open space improvements. A further £740,000 has been 
invoiced from the development at Eton Works, with the contributions to be 
utilised to support an education project within Walkden and Little Hulton, 
highway works and improvements to St.Mary's Park and/or Blackleach 
Country Park.  

PL1920.06 
Work with Greater Manchester/Greater 
Manchester Combined Authority partners to bring 
major investment into the city to drive forward 
infrastructure and property development

Mayor's Challenge Fund
We are continuing to develop schemes to enhance the cycling network 
across the City. Bids have been made to all 6 rounds of the bidding process 
for the Mayor's Challenge Fund to support walking and cycling. A large 
range of projects have achieved programme entry following approval by the 
Combined Authority, totalling approximately £60 million to date. We are 
currently awaiting confirmation of our latest Tranche 6 bid for the Innovation 
Triangle and a decision is expected from the CA at the end of November 
2019. These projects are now under development and consultation in more 
detail to seek business case approvals prior to delivery on site over the 3 
year period of the programme.  

PL19204.07
Continue to work with partners to accommodate 
and support delivery of development schemes that 
will stimulate further growth across the city, 
creating significant levels of investment and a 

Work continues with partners in progressing significant regeneration 
developments for the City across the strategic growth locations City Centre 
Salford; MediaCityUK and The Quays; and, the Western Gateway.

City Centre Salford 

Page 13



4

range of benefits for local communities.  Construction continues on the second and final phase of Salford's 
embankment scheme. 100 embankment (166,000 sq ft office building) 
celebrated a significant milestone in August, as the development 
reached its highest point. The Topping Out ceremony was attended by 
City Mayor Paul Dennett. 

 The team continue to work with partners across Greengate to bring 
forward and realise the ambitions set out within the Greengate 
Regeneration Strategy. A number of major planning applications are in 
the pipeline for submission. 

 The Chapel Wharf development adjacent to the Lowry Hotel continues 
on site and celebrated its topping out in May. Once complete 995 
apartments will be delivered over the four blocks at up to 22 storeys. 

 Local Blackfriars has been completed by DOMIS on behalf of Salboy, 
22 weeks ahead of schedule. Local Blackfriars is a £79m residential 
scheme made up of two buildings, alongside the restored former 
Blackfriars Pub. The project has delivered 399 one and two-bedroom 
apartments, including 12 penthouses and 6 townhouses. The flats are 
now 50% occupied, with 25 apartments left to sell. 

 Two new deals have been announced for One New Bailey:
        - Shawbrook Bank, currently based on Deansgate, has taken 5,300 sq 

ft across the third floor of One New Bailey on a 10-year lease with a 
five-year break.

        - Circle Recruitment has taken 1,900 sq ft on the first floor on a five
year lease and is relocating from its base at Blue Tower, 
MediaCityUK 

 English Cities Fund (ECF) commenced works in June on Atelier (two 
adjoining plots, E7/E8, on Chapel Street) to deliver 178 homes across 
four blocks of up to seven storeys, including: 167 apartments, 11 
townhouses; and, ground floor commercial units. The scheme is 
scheduled to complete in autumn 2021. 

 ECF also commenced enabling works in June at Valette (formerly 
known as the Adelphi site). Works are expected to be completed in 
spring 2021 and will deliver 33 townhouses and car park, with some 
units to be available at the end of 2020. 

 In partnership with the University of Salford, the Council launched a 
formal procurement process in May to appoint a developer partner for 
the 240 acre Crescent Masterplan area. Four shortlisted developers 
are currently taking part in competitive dialogue with a decision on the 
preferred partner expected by the end of the year. 

 UK build to rent operator Get Living, has launched its first 275 new 
homes at New Maker Yards within Middlewood Locks. Once 
complete, New Maker Yards - at more than 800 homes - will be the 
largest build to rent development outside London. Middlewood Locks is 
a 25 acres scheme, led by the Scarborough Group. Phase one (570 
apartments) is complete. Phase 2 is currently under way and has all 
been pre-sold to get Living. 

MediaCityUK and the Quays

 Developments Light Box completed and Green Rooms is nearing 
completion at MediaCityUK. At 19 storeys high the two developments 
will provide a total of 479 apartments (a mix of 1, 2 and 3 beds). 

 Vodafone opened its 5G enabled Digital Innovation Hub in June at 
The Landing, MediaCityUK to provide start-up companies and 
entrepreneurs with access to network experts, the latest technologies 
and high speed fibre. The Innovation Hub will allow start-up companies 
a space to work together and exchange ideas in developing new 5G 
applications and services. 

 Developers Royalton Group and Frogmore undertook a public 
consultation during the summer outlining their plans to build a 
residential-led mixed-use scheme to deliver 1,400 homes at Cotton 
Quay, an 8.3 acre site. 

 Work has started on the Lowry Outlet £26m Watergardens 
transformation project. Set to complete in 2020 it will provide waterfront 
leisure and dining opportunities alongside improved public realm and 
connections. An indoor activity centre themed around ITV's I'm a 
Celebrity has been confirmed to take occupation of part of the space. 

 The Soapworks (former Colgate-Palmolive factory) is now fully let as 
occupiers Talk Talk and the Home Office have expanded. 

Western Gateway
 The team continue to work with partners and land owners to realise the 

Page 14



5

full potential of new road and rail infrastructure alongside commercial 
developments. 

 Planning approval has been secured for a new Aldi store to be built on 
land next to the A J Bell stadium.

PL1920.08 
Work with Manchester Growth Company to attract 
inward investment into the city and the creation of 
600 new jobs

In the first 6 months of 2019-20, MIDAS supported 17 projects to relocate 
to Greater Manchester which combined are forecast to create 676 jobs. 
Almost a quarter of these projects (4) have relocated to Salford which are 
forecast to create almost a third of the total GM jobs (199), with a GVA 
value of almost £12m. All but 1 of the projects have relocated to 
MediaCityUK, and are as follows:-

 A Swiss technology company, MDPI who provide specialist academic 
research and have located to Centenary Way, Eccles. 

 A Danish creative and digital company, Uniwise who provide 
educational online software and have relocated to MediaCityUK. 

 Street dots, a UK technology company who have developed a platform 
that enables land owners/building operators to take advantage of 
outdoor food and beverage, retail, wellbeing and experiential offerings. 
They have set up their Northern HQ in The Landing, MediaCityUK. 

 The Chinese technology company, Huawei who are a leading global 
provider of information and communications technology infrastructure 
and smart devices, have created their Northern UK HQ at 
MediaCityUK. 

In addition the Business Service has supported a new occupier Shawbrook 
Bank to relocate to One New Bailey. This financial services company is 
forecast to create 60 jobs that have a GVA value of £4.6m.
Bringing the total for Quarter 1 and Quarter 2 to 5 Inward Investment 
projects that are forecast to create 259 jobs, valued at £16.6m GVA.

PL1920.10 
Build safer, stronger, more resilient communities 
in Salford and reduce the fear of crime

The Community Safety Partnership (CSP) has a 3 year plan to build safer, 
stronger, more resilient communities in Salford and reduce the fear of 
crime.

To aid the achievement of the plan, we have established a strategic 
management report (SMR - a suite of indicators to track progress) and a 
series of delivery plans based on the community safety issues of 
importance. These delivery plans are largely on track for being achieved 
which will bring about long term strategic developments.

Operationally the all crime figure for Salford is now at -8%. Individual crime 
types are now seeing good reductions. There are 2 wards that continue to 
see the highest crime and these are Ordsall and Langworthy, with Irwell 
Riverside the highest for Hate Crime. Neighbourhood LPDG (Local 
Partnership Delivery Group) and CSRTs (Community Safety Referral 
Teams) continue to manage their community safety issues. The CSPs full 
SMR can be shared if required which gives a much more detailed 
breakdown of both statistics and activity.

Strategic Risk
Risk Scores Matrix Quarter 2/Half year update 
SRRA02
Ensure that the Council 
plans for the significant 
scale of change forecast 
over the next 20 years in 
order to maximise the 
opportunities available 
from the significant 
economic development 
taking place across Salford 
and Greater Manchester 

Likelihood
3

Impact
4

GMSF (Greater Manchester Spatial 
Framework)
 Consultation on the Revised Draft GMSF took 

place between January and March 2019 and 
responses were received from 17,500 individuals 
and organisations. 

 Timetable for the next consultation is summer 2020 
(approved by Greater Manchester Combined 
Authority on Friday 30 September). 

 This is to allow time for Government to amend the 
relevant Spatial Development Strategy 
Regulations, engage more fully with residents and 
other interested parties, and undertake a 12 week 
consultation. 

 Salford City Council officers will continue to provide 
support and input into the GMSF process on a 
range of evidence base documents over the 
coming months, including transport assessments, 
viability appraisals and a ground conditions 
survey.  

Page 15



6

Local Plan
 Consultation on the Revised Draft Local Plan 

finished on 22 March 2019 and officers have 
been considering the responses and making 
amendments to the documents in response to 
these. 

 Representations were received from 680 
individuals and organisations and these are 
due to be published on 30 September 2019. 

 Having regard to the delay to the GMSF 
timetable, the Local Plan is now being 
progressed in two parts. 

 Part 1, which focuses on development 
management and related policies, will be 
"published" in January 2020 and comments 
invited over a 6 week period. The submission 
of the plan will follow in May 2020 and the 
independent examination in 
September/October 2020. 

 Part 1 of the plan will exclude site allocations 
and proposals for the overall scale and 
distribution of development as it is not possible 
to progress the elements of the plan relating to 
this until the Greater Manchester Spatial 
Framework (GMSF) has been completed. 
These elements will therefore be covered by a 
part 2 of the Local Plan (a Core Strategy and 
Allocations document). The timetable for the 
production of this will be dependent on GMSF 
progress and it is expected that work will start 
on this in mid to late 2021 once the GMSF 
examination is underway or completed.

Page 16



7

Housing 

Lead Member Councillor Tracy Kelly
Lead Director Ben Dolan
Performance Overview – Highlights of progress in Quarters 1 and 2 2019-20

 Key achievements in Quarters 1 and 2 include:

- Securing additional funding for new homes, including additional social rent units increasing 
the current committed pipeline up to 1,057 affordable homes

- Handover and occupation of 10 affordable rented accessible homes in Walkden North by 
ForHousing

- Completion, handover and occupation of Derive’s first 16 affordable homes in Irwell 
Riverside. Derive is the development company owned by Salford City Council that aims to 
meet people’s housing needs and increase the number of affordable homes in the city.

- Handover of final social rented units at Walkden College by Trafford Housing Trust.
- Occupation of 39 affordable rented units at Radclyffe Park in Ordsall by ForHousing

 High density residential developments to complete in Quarter 1 and 2 brought 779 new homes to 
the market, 2 schemes broke ground adding a further 200 new homes to the development 
pipeline and a further 4 schemes topped out totalling 1,215 new homes and 354,500 sq ft of 
commercial floor space to complete in 2020-21.

 At the end of Quarter 2, 123 empty properties have been brought back into use.  Performance is 
on track to achieve the annual target of 250 empty properties brought back into use.

 171 older and vulnerable Salford residents have been supported to maintain their homes in a 
safe, warm and dry condition.  This is on track to achieve the annual target of 290 residents 
supported.

 264 households have been helped to access energy efficiency measures and achieve affordable 
warmth.  Performance is on track to achieve the annual target with Quarter 3 (October – 
December) being the biggest quarter for delivery.

Planned activity in Quarters 3 and 4

 A draft housing strategy and annual action plan has been produced.  Internal consultation is 
currently taking place with People/Place Leadership Teams (including Public Health) and the 
Lead Member for Housing in order to inform the final strategy and action plan.

Core Performance indicators – progress in Q1 and Q2 2019-20
Target Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Trend Rag 

rating
Delivery of new homes, including 225 
affordable homes and 250 empty 
properties brought back into use

1200 46 123 
properties 
brought 

back into 
use

(cumulativ
e)

Number of older and vulnerable 
residents supported to maintain their 
homes in a safe, warm and dry 
condition

290 91 171
cumulative

Number of households assisted to 
access energy efficiency measures 
and achieve affordable warmth

900 71 335
cumulative

Page 17



8

Core business plan actions – progress as at end of Q2 2019-20
Action Quarter 2/Half year update

PL1920.11 
Drive and deliver inclusive housing growth 
increasing the number of new homes including 
affordable housing

It is forecast that 365 affordable homes will be delivered in 2019-20. Key 
achievements in Quarters 1 and 2 include:
 Handover and occupation of 10 affordable rented accessible homes by 

ForHousing (Walkden North). 
 Securing additional funding for new homes, including additional social rent 

units increasing the current committed pipeline line up to 1,057 affordable 
homes. 

 Completion, handover and occupation of Derive's first 16 affordable 
homes (Irwell Riverside). 

 Handover of final social rented units at Walkden College by Trafford 
Housing Trust (Walkden South). 

  Occupation of 39 affordable rented units at Radclyffe Park by ForHousing 
(Ordsall). 

Page 18



9

Transport

Lead Member Councillor Derek Antrobus/ Councillor Roger Jones
Lead Director Ben Dolan
Performance Overview – Highlights of progress in Quarters 1 and 2 2019-20

 The Trafford Road Corridor is a key transport artery that provides a vital highway connection to 
MediaCityUK. Following a successful bid to the GM Mayor’s Challenge Fund (of £4.8m) a number of 
infrastructure improvements are proposed for the corridor to help reduce congestion and increase 
capacity.  The also includes the delivery of a more ambitious scheme to support cycling and walking 
whilst retaining benefits for motorists. An initial round of public engagement has taken place with 
further activities planned for Autumn. 

 Construction work for the Manchester Salford Inner Relief Route (MSIRR) Scheme continues on site 
with work managed by Manchester City Council. The most disruptive activities on Regent Road have 
been completed and traffic is now benefiting from additional lanes. Work continues on the 
Middlewood Street section of the scheme which is due to be completed by the end of 2019.

 The Council is continuing to develop schemes to enhance the cycling network across the city. Bids 
have been made to all 6 rounds of the bidding process for the Mayor’s Challenge Fund to support 
walking and cycling. A large range of projects have achieved programme entry following approval, 
totalling approximately £60 million to date.

 The GM Combined Authority met in June and heard an update on bus reform. In the future it may be 
possible for GM to control the bus services across the conurbation which will help to provide a more 
coordinated service. ‘Our Pass’ will provide free travel for 16-18 year olds across Greater 
Manchester and a two year pilot scheme commenced in September.

 Work to deliver upgrades to approximately 80 bus stops across the Salford Bolton Network 
Improvements area has been completed.

 There are plans in place to upgrade Salford Central Station. Network Rail and TfGM (Transport for 
Greater Manchester) are looking to make improvements to platforms 1 and 2 and have future plans 
to enhance platforms 2, 3 and 4. Now that the Ordsall Chord is open there are more trains passing 
through the station.

 Department for Transport Access for All funding has been secured for a lift at Irlam Station. Network 
Rail are currently progressing the scheme designs.

 Funding has been secured for a 110 space Park & Ride at Walkden station. Transport for Greater 
Manchester (TfGM) will lead design and delivery of the scheme.

 A dialogue to consider improvements to public transport for Salford Quays has continued with TfGM 
and this includes the potential for a new Metrolink route linking the City Centre to the Crescent and 
Salford Quays.

Planned activity in Quarters 3 and 4

 Salford Bolton Network Improvements Scheme – package 2 of the scheme for Swinton is currently in 
detailed design with a view to work starting in 2020. Package 3 of the work will target the A6 and 
A666 corridors and Traffic Regulation Orders for the new bus lane have been confirmed. Work is 
due to start in early 2020.

 A scheme to reduce congestion around Junction 13 of the M60 at Worsley has now been tendered 
and work is due to start on site in early 2020.

Core business plan actions – progress as at end of Q2 2019-20
Action Quarter 2/Half year update
PL.1920.14
Improve transport infrastructure to 
facilitate economic growth and cope 
with future demands with our partners

The Quays and MCUK
 Major infrastructure highway improvement works for Trafford Road are being planned 

in collaboration with TfGM. Following initial scheme approvals an updated layout for 
the scheme has been developed to enhance the proposals for walking and cycling 
using additional funding from the Mayor's Challenge Fund. This will enable the 
delivery of a more ambitious scheme to support cycling and walking whilst retaining 
benefits for motorists. An initial round of public engagement on the proposals has 
taken place with further activities planned for Autumn. The programme for the project 
anticipates that enabling works will start early in 2020 with the main works to follow 
later in the year and be completed in 2022. 

Page 19



10

 A dialogue to consider improvements to public transport infrastructure for the Quays 
has continued with Transport for Greater Manchester in line with proposals in the GM 
Transport Strategy 2040 draft delivery plan. This includes investigating the potential 
for a new Metrolink route linking the City Centre to the Crescent and Salford Quays. 
This work also includes the consideration of additional bus services covering the 
Ordsall Lane area supported by contributions from developers. 

Regional Centre/Central Salford
 We continue to work with Network Rail and TfGM, supported by politicians, to ensure 

the aspirations for improvements to Salford Central Station remain deliverable. 
 Construction work for the Manchester Salford Inner Relief Route (MSIRR) Scheme 

continues on site with works being managed by Manchester City Council. The most 
disruptive activities on Regent Road have been completed following the replacement 
of the main contractor who went into administration part way through construction. 
Traffic is now benefiting from additional lanes on Regent Road whilst work continues 
on the Middlewood Street section of the scheme which is scheduled for completion 
by the end of 2019. 

 Work continues with TfGM and Manchester Council to develop the next phases of 
the New Bailey Gateway project. Proposals for the operation of a bus gate as part of 
this project have been reviewed by TfGM and it is apparent that this needs to be 
integrated with proposals for the network in Manchester. Solutions are being 
considered jointly as part of the development of an updated City Centre Transport 
Strategy Work continues to integrate the proposals for the highway network in this 
area between the two Cities alongside enhancement to the cycling and walking 
network as part of the Chapel Street East project. This scheme has been launched 
as part of Greater Manchester's Mayors Challenge fund and is now supported by a 
wide range of interventions in this area. This includes enhancements to the cycling 
and walking network as well as the potential to deliver a new footbridge linking the 
New Bailey Development to Manchester. 

Western Gateway
 Discussions with Peel about the maintenance and adoption of the bridge and new 

roads are ongoing. 
 A working group of Salford, Trafford, TfGM, Highways England officers continues to 

review the Full WGIS solution. A funding bid for full WGIS to the DfT's Large Local 
Majors programme was not prioritised through the GM process due to the lack of 
certainty around a local funding contribution and the need to develop the business 
case for the scheme further. 

 Highways England continue to develop improvements to the motorway network as 
part of the North West Quadrant Study. Members have been briefed on the details 
that have emerged to date. Highways England have announced a delay to expected 
stakeholder events when further details of the proposals are expected to be made 
public. TfGM have undertaken the multi-modal element of this study to consider the 
impact of these projects on the local network and also explore opportunities for 
enhanced public transport and park and ride facilities. 

City Wide
 Package 2 of the Salford Bolton Network Improvements scheme for Swinton is 

currently in detailed design with a view to start work in 2020. 
 Package 3 of the work will target the A6 and A666 corridors and Traffic Regulation 

Orders for the new bus lane have been confirmed. Work is due to start on site early 
2020. 

 Package 4 to deliver improvements at Pendleton centre is currently due to start on 
site in autumn 2019. 

 Package 5 - The contract to deliver upgrades to circa 80 bus stops across the SBNI 
area is completed. 

 A number of reserve scheme projects are now being developed further to maximise 
the benefit of this funding. 

 Construction work for the access junction to the RHS Bridgewater site is complete. A 
scheme to reduce congestion around Junction 13 of the M60 at Worsley has been 
tendered and work is due to start on site in early 2020. Work continues to develop 
proposals to improve walking and cycling links to the RHS garden site which will be 
supported by the Greater Manchester Challenge Fund. 

 We are continuing to develop schemes to enhance the cycling network across the 
City. Bids have been made to all 6 rounds of the bidding process for the Mayor's 
Challenge Fund to support walking and cycling. A large range of projects have 
achieved programme entry following approval by the Combined Authority. These 
projects are now under development and consultation in more detail to seek business 
case approvals prior to delivery on site over the 3 year period of the programme. 

Page 20



11

Innovation
Salford continues to work with TfGM to develop innovative forms of transport and is 
currently involved in a Mobility as a Service (MaaS) project that will test the aggregation 
of various transport modes across a single ticketing platform. The aim is to increase 
sustainable travel to/from key destinations including Salford Quays and MediaCityUK, 
The University of Salford and Salford Royal Hospital.

Rail
Department for Transport (DfT) Access for all funding has been secured for a lift at Irlam 
Station, Network Rail are currently progressing the scheme designs.
Funding has been secured for a 110 space Park & Ride (P&R) at Walkden station, TfGM 
will lead design and delivery of the scheme.

1. Areas where performance is not on target/is getting worse 

As at the end of Quarter 2 2019/20 all performance measures in the Place 
Service Group are either on target or above target.

B.  Supplementary Management Information

4. Employee absence

Quarter 2/Half-year absence data 

Across the council Quarter 1 saw an increase in attendance of 0.10%, this 
reflects the overall increase in attendance over the previous 12 months. Quarter 
2 also saw a further increase in attendance on 0.10%, increasing attendance to 
95.80%. There continues to be a concentrated effort in each directorate to 
improve attendance.

Service Group Targets for 2020-21 Current Performance
People 96.50% 94.80%
Place 96.50% 96.30%
Public Health 98.50% 98.80%
Service Reform 97.70% 97.00%
Urban Vision 96.50% 95.80%

Overall absence has reduced by 2.20 days per employee in the past 12 months 
increasing attendance by 7060 days per year.  This equates to an overall 
absence figure of 10.90 days per employee.

Page 21



12

Employee absence in Place Service Group

As the charts below indicate, in the Place Service Group in quarter 2, the 
percentage of staff absent was 18% and the percentage of return to work 
interviews completed was 94%.  

In Urban Vision in quarter 2, the percentage of staff absent was 17% and the 
percentage of return to work interviews completed was 61%.  

 

Page 22



13

Reasons for absence In Quarter 2 2019-20

The following table shows the reasons for absence in the Place Service Group 
and Urban Vision with the number of days lost in each case.

Service Area Reason Total
Other Musculo Problems 734
Stomach/Liver/Kidney 451
Back & Neck Problems 275
Stress - Bereavement 268
Medicated 209
Heart/Blood Pressure 130
Infections/Cold/Flu 111
Stress – Home Related 106
Neurological/Headache 78
Stress – Work Related 45
Ear/Eye/Nose/Mouth 30
Genito-Urinary Problems 22
Stress – Unspecified 21
Chest & Respiratory 16
Skin Related 6
Pregnancy Related 2

Place

Total 2504
Other Musculo Problems 143
Chest & Respiratory 72
Neurological/Headache 66
Ear/Eye/Nose/Mouth 27
Back & Neck Problems 16
Stomach/Liver/Kidney 12
Infections/Cold/Flu 10

Urban Vision

Total 346

Place Service Group Quarterly absence data 

Performance Measure Q1 2019/20 Q2 2019/20
Headcount 1178 1172
Number of staff absent 258 212
Total Days Lost 2665 2504
Average Days Lost 2.3 2.1
Percentage of Days Lost 3.5% 3.3%
% of Return to Work interviews completed 91% 94%
Cost of Absence £159,064.35 £141,718.12
Cost of Overtime £269,649.69 £258,058.49
Cost of Agency £288,307.98 £290,556.72

The total number of days lost in Quarter 2 has reduced from 2665 days in the 
previous quarter to 2504 days.  The cost of absence has also reduced from 
£159,064.35 in Quarter 1 to £141,718.12 in Quarter 2.  

Page 23



14

Urban Vision Quarterly absence data

Performance Measure Q1 2019/20 Q2 2019/20
Headcount 159 156
Number of staff absent 37 27
Total Days Lost 244 346
Average Days Lost 1.5 2.2
Percentage of Days Lost 2.4% 3.4%
% of Return to Work interviews completed 21% 61%
Cost of Absence £26,409.47 £37,179.20
Cost of Overtime £43,035.78 £40,983.30

The total number of days lost in Quarter 2 has increased to 346 days from 244 
days in the previous quarter, which has led to an increased cost of absence of 
£37,179.20 in Quarter 2 from £26,409.47 in Quarter 1.    

Overtime Costs

The overtime costs have reduced in the Place Service Group, from £269,649.69 
in Quarter 1 to £258,058.49 in Quarter 2.  Overtime costs have also reduced in 
Urban Vision from £43,035.78 in Quarter 1 to £40,983.30 in Quarter 2.

5. Budget Monitoring Position

The Place Service Group’s position as at the end of September 2019 is shown in 
the table below:

Forecast year-end position
Annual budget Forecast outturn Year end 

variance
Service Group

£m £m £m

RAG Rating

Place 46.330 46.674 (0.343) A (Red)

Place

An adverse variance of £0.343m is currently forecast. This is primarily as a result 
of budget pressures linked to the implementation of transformation savings, 
offset by a positive variance against budget on advertising on the highways and 
streetworks income. 

As reported previously, through the 2019/20 budget setting process the service 
group made a commitment to cover the shortfall in transformation savings and 
remain committed to working towards mitigating this budget pressure by year 
end. 

Page 24



1

Part 1 (Open to the Public)

Report of the Lead Member for Planning and Sustainable Development 
To Growth and Prosperity Scrutiny Panel  

On 
27th January 2020

 
TITLE: Update Report on Greater Manchester’s Clean Air Plan: Tackling Nitrogen 
Dioxide Exceedances at the Roadside

RECOMMENDATIONS: the City Mayor and Cabinet Members are requested to:  

a) note progress made to date;

b) note the Ministerial Direction under the Environment Act 1995 (Greater 
Manchester) Air Quality Direction 2019 which requires all ten Greater 
Manchester (GM) local authorities to implement a charging Clean Air Zone 
Class C across the region;

c) agree the need to continue to proceed towards developing the 
implementation and contract arrangements of a charging Clean Air Zone in 
GM, utilising the initial tranche of £36m of funding as required by the 
Ministerial Direction / feedback;

d) delegate authority to the Strategic Director Place to determine the 
preparatory implementation and contract arrangements that need to be 
undertaken utilising the initial tranche of £36m of funding to deliver the CAZ 
and other GM CAP measures, as set out at paragraph 4.11;

e) note that the report to determine the timings for commencing the 
consultation will be received in the Spring of 2020;

f) note the outstanding need to secure a clear response from Government on 
the clean vehicles funding asks;

g) note that Highways England have not been directed to act in relation to 
tackling NO2 exceedances in the same way as the GM local authorities, and 
that this will leave some publicly accessible areas of GM adjacent to trunk 
roads managed by Highways England, with NO2 exceedances that are not 
being addressed by the Highways England plan;

h) delegate authority to the Strategic Director Place to agree the final content 
and submission of the documents listed in Appendix One for formal 
submission to JAQU and note their Publication status;

Page 25

Agenda Item 5



2

i) delegate authority to the Strategic Director Place to determine any further 
technical reports for formal submission to JAQU; and

j) note that Salford City Mayor will co-sign a letter from the GM Authorities to 
the Transport Secretary asking Government to bring forward the launch of a 
statutory consultation to strengthen rules on vehicle idling.

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS: 

 26 July 2019, report to GMCA: Clean Air Update

 31 March 2019, Greater Manchester’s Outline Business Case to tackle Nitrogen 
Dioxide Exceedances at the Roadside (OBC)

 1 March 2019, report to GMCA: Greater Manchester’s Clean Air Plan – Tackling 
Nitrogen Dioxide Exceedances at the Roadside – Outline Business Case   

 11 January 2019, report to GMCA/AGMA: Clean Air Update

 14 December 2018, report to GMCA: Clean Air Update

 30 November 2018, report to GMCA: Clean Air Plan Update

 26 October 2018, report to GMCA: GM Clean Air Plan Update on Local Air 
Quality Monitoring

 15 November 2018, report to HPEOS Committee: Clean Air Update

 16 August 2018, report to HPEOS Committee: GM Clean Air Plan Update

 UK plan for tackling roadside nitrogen dioxide concentrations, Defra and DfT, July 
2017

KEY DECISION:  Yes 

DETAILS: 

1 Purpose of the Report

1.1 To set out the progress that has been made following the Government’s 
response to Greater Manchester’s Outline Business Case to tackle Nitrogen 
Dioxide Exceedances at the Roadside (OBC), and the implications for the 
ten Greater Manchester (GM) local authorities in relation to the schedule of 
work and statutory consultation on the Clean Air Plan.

Page 26



3

2 Background 

2.1 In July 2017, the Secretary of State issued a Direction under the 
Environment Act 1995 requiring seven GM local authorities, including 
Salford, to produce a feasibility study to identify the option which will deliver 
compliance with the requirement to meet legal limits for nitrogen dioxide in 
the shortest possible time. 

2.2 In accordance with this Direction, Salford has been developing the study 
collectively with the other nine GM local authorities and the Greater 
Manchester Combined Authority (GMCA), coordinated by Transport for 
Greater Manchester (TfGM), in line with Government direction and guidance, 
and an OBC was duly submitted in April 2019. 

2.3 The key features of Greater Manchester’s feasibility study and its OBC to 
reduce nitrogen dioxide exceedances in Salford and across GM in the 
shortest possible time, were approved at Salford Council Cabinet on 26 
March 2019 for submission to the Government's Joint Air Quality Unit 
(JAQU).

3 Introduction

3.1 Government has instructed many local authorities across the UK to take 
quick action to reduce harmful Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2) levels, following the 
Secretary of State issuing a Direction under the Environment Act 1995 to 
undertake feasibility studies to identify measures for reducing NO2 
concentrations to within legal limit values in the “shortest possible time”. In 
GM, the ten local authorities, the GMCA and TfGM, hereinafter collectively 
referred to as “Greater Manchester” or “GM”, are working together to 
develop a Clean Air Plan to tackle NO2 exceedances at the roadside, 
hereinafter referred to as GM CAP.

3.2 In its OBC, GM proposed the following package of measures that delivers 
compliance in the shortest possible time, at the lowest cost, least risk and 
with the least negative impacts. They are:

 A charging Clean Air Zone (CAZ), which will target the most polluting 
commercial vehicles including older heavy goods vehicles, buses, 
coaches, taxis and private hire vehicles from the summer of 2021, and 
older polluting light goods vehicles from 2023 (i.e. a CAZ C with a van 
exemption until 2023).  It has been assumed at OBC stage that the Clean 
Air Zone charge would be £7.50 per day for taxis, private hire vehicles and 
light goods vehicles, and £100 per day for heavy goods vehicles, buses 
and coaches.

 A Clean Freight Fund of c.£59m to provide financial support for the 
upgrade of light and heavy goods vehicles, minibuses and coaches, which 
will be targeted to support smaller local businesses, sole traders and the 
voluntary sector registered in GM. 

Page 27



4

 A Clean Taxi Fund of c.£28m, to support the upgrade of non-compliant 
GM licensed taxi and private hire vehicles. 

 A Clean Bus Fund of c.£30m to provide, where possible, the retrofit of 
older engine standards to the less polluting Euro VI standard for those 
buses registered to run services across GM. 

 A package of supporting measures including a proposed Loan Finance 
scheme, sustainable journeys projects and additional Electric Vehicle (EV) 
charging infrastructure.

3.3 The OBC made clear the expectation that the UK Government would support 
the plans through: 

 Clear arrangements and funding to develop workable, local vehicle 
scrappage / upgrade measures; 

 Short term effective interventions in vehicle and technology manufacturing 
and distribution, led by national Government with local authorities; 

 Replacement of non-compliant buses; and 

 A clear instruction to Highways England with regard to air pollution from 
the Strategic Road Network (SRN) in GM. 

3.4 The OBC outlining these proposals and the supporting evidence was 
submitted to Government at the end of March 2019. Ministerial feedback 
was received in July 2019 along with a further direction under the 
Environment Act 1995 which requires all ten GM local authorities to take 
steps to implement a plan to deliver compliance with the requirement to meet 
legal limits for nitrogen dioxide in the shortest possible time.

3.5 The 2019 Ministerial Direction and accompanying letter proposed some key 
amendments to GM’s OBC proposals, including the implementation of a 
charging Clean Air Zone Class C without a van exemption until 2023, with 
additional measures; and for local authorities to jointly submit to JAQU 
revised evidence by 2 August and a Full Business Case (FBC) by 31 
December 2019 at the latest. 

3.6 The Ministerial letter set out that the GM plan looks to be on track to deliver 
compliance in the shortest possible time and that on the evidence provided 
to date GM authorities should continue to proceed towards developing the 
implementation and contract arrangements of a charging Clean Air Zone in 
GM and that the Government would provide an initial tranche of £36m of 
funding to take this forward.

3.7 Full detail of the Government’s response was set out in the GMCA Clean Air 
Update report on 26 July 2019 and in written briefings provided to Salford 
City Mayor prior to the GMCA meeting. 

Page 28



5

4 Progress Since Last Update 

4.1 Following the ministerial feedback and 2019 Ministerial Direction, the GM 
Authorities sought clarification on the 2019 Ministerial Direction and the 
accompanying ministerial letter, questioned the Government’s lack of 
assurances around financial support for the broader GM CAP, outlined GM’s 
approach to the requests for further options analysis, and detailed the issues 
GM faces in preparing to implement the scheme - in terms of the timetable 
for FBC and statutory consultation.

4.2 The ministerial letter requested from GM further options appraisal 
information (including transport and air quality modeling, as well as due 
regard to economic, financial and deliverability considerations), to be 
submitted prior to statutory consultation and by 2 August 2019. 

4.3 In the interests of the ongoing working relationship between the ten GM 
Authorities and the Government's Joint Air Quality Unit (JAQU) in developing 
the GM CAP, a total of 29 draft technical reports and notes have been 
issued to JAQU in draft form and are subject to approval as set out in 
Appendix One. These provide the specific information JAQU has requested 
about behavioural assumptions and sensitivity testing. 

4.4 GM has also requested clarification of the 2019 direction, JAQU guidance 
and GM’s legal obligations relating to the options appraisal process, and 
whether this impacts on the GM authorities’ options appraisal work to date or 
the additional work required by the letter accompanying the 2019 Ministerial 
Direction.

4.5 In addition, GM set out that the delay of over two months in receiving 
Ministerial feedback on the OBC, compounded by the request for GM to 
submit further options appraisal information, has had a material impact on 
the timetable for the GM CAP.

4.6 The delay arising from the ministerial feedback and lack of clarity on the 
direction, JAQU guidance and GM’s legal obligations relating to the options 
appraisal process, means that consultation will now need to take place later 
than originally planned. Consultation must comply with the relevant public 
law principles which may be summarised as:

 consulting at a time when proposals are still formative;

 giving sufficient reasons for the proposals to allow intelligent consideration 
and response by consultees;

 giving adequate time for consultees to respond; and

 ensuring that the responses to the consultation are conscientiously taken 
into consideration in finalising proposals.

Page 29



6

4.7 In planning for a statutory consultation, Officers have had to have regard to 
these principles. Given the continuing dialogue with Ministers to secure a 
clear response from Government on our clean vehicles funding asks and 
lack of clarity on the 2019 Ministerial Direction, JAQU guidance and GM’s 
legal obligations relating to the options appraisal process, Officers cannot 
at this time advise the GM Authorities to commence the Statutory 
Consultation. 

4.8 In the absence of a statutory consultation, GM Authorities were unable to 
submit an FBC by the deadline given (31 December 2019) and therefore that 
aspect of the Ministerial Direction has not been fulfilled. Officers remain in 
dialogue with JAQU and have written to clarify GM’s position in relation to 
our schedule of work. GM has been clear that improving air quality is a 
priority and to that aim we have set out how we have been progressing this 
work.  

4.9 Despite this delay to undertaking a statutory consultation and in view of the 
2019 Ministerial Direction, GM must continue to proceed towards developing 
the implementation and contract arrangements of a charging Clean Air Zone 
in GM utilising the initial tranche of £36m of funding.

4.10 GM Authority decision makers will receive a report in spring 2020 to 
determine the timings for commencement of the consultation. The report will:

 Detail the outputs from the Public Conversation and workshop-style focus 
groups, known as deliberative research;

 Set out the outline of the proposals and what they mean for GM, including:
 the basic key elements of the Clean Air Zone (including the intended 

boundary and times of operation, proposed discounts/exemptions, 
vehicles affected and daily charges)

 the supporting measures (the detail of proposals of the funds and 
vehicle finance scheme, sustainable journeys)

 An Equalities Impact Assessment that considers the draft proposals at a 
GM level.

4.11 In the interim, given the scale and challenging timeline to deliver a charging 
Clean Air Zone as required by the 2019 Ministerial Direction, there is 
preparatory work that needs to be undertaken. This is in order to maintain 
delivery momentum in line with the funding arrangements agreed with JAQU, 
for example in relation to automatic number plate recognition (ANPR) 
cameras, back office systems and service providers. Therefore, a 
delegation is sought to give the Strategic Director Place the necessary 
authority to determine the preparatory implementation and contract 
arrangements, utilising the initial tranche of £36m of funding that may need 
to be undertaken to deliver a Clean Air Zone and other GM CAP measures, 
ahead of the report that will determine progressing the statutory consultation.

4.12 The commencement of a charging Clean Air Zone scheme and the other 
measures are subject to both consultation as set out at 4.10, and to the GM 

Page 30



7

authorities receiving the required government funding to enable them to 
meet the legal limits for nitrogen dioxide concentrations. 

5   Government Asks

5.1 In addition to the response on the specific clean air proposals, additional 
asks were made of Government, as set out at 3.3.

5.2 These include an ask for Government to direct Highways England to tackle 
NO2 exceedances on the Strategic Road Network (SRN) in the same way 
that local authorities that have been directed to undertake a feasibility study 
are having to take action on the local road network. The ministerial feedback 
outlined that Highways England are working up plans for exceedances 
identified by national modelling on their network, and that this is not 
expected to include charging on the SRN but will instead focus on a range of 
measures such as traffic management, speed limits and barriers.

5.3 Officers have been advised that the measures proposed by Highways 
England in GM focus on introducing 60mph speed limits on parts of the 
SRN. It highlights the concern that Highways England have not been 
directed to act in relation to tackling NO2 exceedances in the same way as 
GM local authorities, and that this will leave some publicly accessible areas 
of GM adjacent to trunk roads managed by Highways England, with NO2 
exceedances that are not being addressed by the Highways England plan.

6   Vehicle Idling

6.1 GM’s Clean Air conversation in spring 2019 highlighted that many people are 
concerned about vehicle idling, prompting questions about what GM can do to 
crack down on people who leave their engines idling.

6.2 In the UK, it is illegal under the Road Vehicles (Construction and Use) 
Regulations 1986 to leave a vehicle’s engine running unnecessarily while that 
vehicle is stationary on a public road. Doing this can incur a £20 fixed-penalty 
fine under the Road Traffic (Vehicle Emissions) Regulations 2002. 

6.3 This is only imposed if the driver fails to turn off their engine when asked to do 
so. Enforcement of this legislation, either through a Fixed Penalty Notice 
(FPN) or via the magistrates’ court sits with local authorities. 

6.4 As the enforcing officer has to give the driver the opportunity to switch off the 
engine first and the penalty for idling is relatively small (£20), GM Local 
Authorities do not consider the regulation to be an effective deterrent.

6.5 In addition, Government has recently announced proposals to consult on 
toughening up rules on vehicle idling and increasing fines for drivers who 
leave their engine running while parked.

Page 31

https://www.gov.uk/government/news/idling-drivers-could-face-higher-fines-under-new-government-crackdown


8

6.6 Given the limited enforcement deterrent, the GM Authorities are planning to 
undertake more awareness raising campaigns to inform of the health impacts 
that idling has on air quality.

6.7 In parallel, GM Authorities will write to the Transport Secretary asking them to 
bring forward the launch of the public consultation on this issue.

7 Next Steps

7.1 Officers will:

 Continue to work with JAQU to clarify the 2019 Ministerial Direction, JAQU 
guidance and GM’s legal obligations relating to the options appraisal 
process, and the implications of that to our schedule of work and the 
timings for consultation on the Plan; 

 Continue dialogue with JAQU to secure a clear response from 
Government on our clean vehicles funding asks; and

 Continue stakeholder engagement and awareness raising with groups in 
scope of the Clean Air Zone and the general public.

8 Recommendations

The City Mayor and Cabinet Members are requested to: 

a) note progress made to date;

b) note the Ministerial Direction under the Environment Act 1995 (Greater 
Manchester) Air Quality Direction 2019 which requires all ten Greater 
Manchester local authorities to implement a charging Clean Air Zone Class 
C across the region;

c) agree the need to continue to proceed towards developing the 
implementation and contract arrangements of a charging Clean Air Zone in 
GM utilising the initial tranche of £36m of funding as required by the 
Ministerial Direction / feedback;

d) delegate authority to the Strategic Director Place to determine the 
preparatory implementation and contract arrangements that need to be 
undertaken utilising the initial tranche of £36m of funding to deliver the CAZ 
and other GM CAP measures, as set out at paragraph 4.11;

e) note that the report to determine the timings for commencing the 
consultation will be received in the Spring of 2020;

f) note the outstanding need to secure a clear response from Government on 
the Clean Vehicles funding asks;

Page 32



9

g) note that Highways England have not been directed to act in relation to 
tackling NO2 exceedances in the same way as the GM local authorities, and 
that this will leave some publicly accessible areas of GM adjacent to trunk 
roads managed by Highways England, with NO2 exceedances that are not 
being addressed by the Highways England plan;

h) delegate authority to the Strategic Director Place to agree the final content 
and submission of the documents listed in Appendix One for formal 
submission to JAQU and note their Publication status; 

i) delegate authority to the Strategic Director Place to determine any further 
technical reports for formal submission to JAQU; and 

j) note that the Salford City Mayor will co-sign a letter from the GM Authorities 
to the Transport Secretary asking Government to bring forward the launch of 
a statutory consultation to strengthen rules on vehicle idling.

KEY COUNCIL POLICIES: Greater Manchester Low Emission Strategy and Air 
Quality Action Plan 2016   

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS: Supplied by Magda 
Sachs 793 3525

The City Mayor and Cabinet will receive a report in spring 2020 which will include an 
Equalities Impact Assessment that considers the draft proposals at a GM level.

An initial screening Equality Impact Assessment has been undertaken as part of the 
OBC.
 

ASSESSMENT OF RISK: 

The risk is viewed as medium to high. Important to note is the fact that because of 
the delays which have arisen through the need to seek further clarification from 
Government and JAQU on a range of issues as set out in the report, the GM 
authorities were not in a position to submit their full business case by 31 December 
2019, as required under the Directive. This could leave the GM authorities open to 
challenge.           

SOURCE OF FUNDING: £36m Government money awarded to GM to deliver the 
GMCAP   

Page 33



10

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS: Supplied by Barbara Gora of the Shared Legal Service

These are detailed throughout the report. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: Supplied by Joanne Hardman 793 3156

It is assumed that JAQU Implementation and Clean Air Funds will provide funding for 
all costs relating to the scheme’s implementation, and that DEFRA/JAQU will 
underwrite any net operational deficit, as may be necessary, over the life of the 
scheme until compliance is achieved.  There is no budget provision within the council 
to cover these costs. 

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS: Supplied by Deborah Derbyshire 686 6244
 
TfGM will be acting as lead authority for the collaborative procurement activity for the 
project outlined within the report.  Any procurement activity undertaken by local 
authorities or other public sector bodies follow the same rules around the EU/Public 
Procurement Contract Regulations and contractual standing orders ensuring 
compliance with these regulations.   The Salford procurement team will provide 
support and will work closely with the Place directorate to assist in any local 
procurement activity required for this project.

OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED: People – Public Health Gillian McLaughlin 

CONTACT OFFICER:   Bernie Vaudrey Head of Business, 793 2283                       

WARD(S) TO WHICH REPORT RELATE(S): ALL

Page 34



11

Appendix One

9.1  This appendix summarises the purpose and contents of the additional 
supplementary technical Evidence Notes that are required to be formally 
submitted to JAQU to accompany the OBC and in response to the Minister’s 
feedback.

9.2     Pursuant to the Ministerial Direction, and in discussions with the government’s 
Joint Air Quality Unit (JAQU) GM has updated analysis that addresses issues 
raised around the behavioural assumptions used and provided assurance that 
the proposed Clean Air Zone will deliver compliance in the shortest possible 
time, and that compliance cannot be achieved earlier than 2024, such 
analysis includes:

 exploring whether measures targeted at the last remaining exceedance 
locations following implementation of a CAZ in 2021 would achieve 
compliance quicker;

 updating the behavioural assumptions used to model the impact of a CAZ, 
following the Technical Independent Review Panel’s suggestions;

 providing further sensitivity testing on vehicle upgrade assumptions; and

 demonstrating that a Greater Manchester CAZ D cannot bring forward 
compliance, including outlining the delivery challenges discussed for a GM 
wide CAZ D. 

9.3    In response, 29 Evidence Notes have been produced, namely:

1. GM CAP Data, Evidence and Modelling: post-OBC approach

2. GM CAP: Next steps for data collection and the development of 
analytical tools

3. GM CAP: Analysis of the freight market

4. GM CAP: Analysis of the coach market **

5. GM CAP: ANPR Surveys: Summary of Initial Findings 

6. GM CAP: Behavioural response assumptions and available data 
sources*

7. GM CAP: LGV and HGV Operational Cost Models*

8. GM CAP: HGV Behavioural Responses Note*

9. GM CAP: LGV Behavioural Responses Note*

10. GM CAP: Taxi Behavioural Responses Note*

11. GM CAP: Analysis of Bus Upgrade Options to Deliver Air Quality 
Compliance**

Page 35



12

12. GM CAP: Evidence of the impact of 2021 implementation of a 
CAZ C (without exemptions)

13. GM CAP Study: Traffic Impact on Neighbouring Authorities

14. GM CAP: Local exceedances: Update*

15. GM CAP: Implications of the EFT update for GM

16. GM CAP: Sensitivity testing of a CAZ C in 2023 with revised 
behavioural response assumptions.* 

17. GM CAP: Evidence supporting the decision not to progress with a 
GM-wide CAZ D.

18. GM CAP: Minibus Vehicle Research

19. GM CAP: Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Fleet Research

20. GM CAP: Greater Manchester Specialised Goods Surveys: 
Results Summary

21. GM CAP: Sensitivity test: Full Electric Bus Fleet

22. GM CAP: Addendum to Note 3: GM Comparative Statistics

23. GM CAP: Summary update of ongoing work on local 
exceedances*

24. GM CAP: Updates to the Modelling Tools post-OBC Submission 
for the Do Minimum scenario

25. GM CAP: Modelling the impacts of Sustainable Journeys 
Measures*

26. GM CAP: Analysis of Funds*

27. GM CAP: Demand Sifting Tool Operating Manual*

28. GM CAP: Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Operational Cost Model*

29. GM CAP: Option for Consultation Modelling Summary*

9.4   In the interests of the ongoing working relationship between the 10 GM 
authorities and JAQU in developing the GM CAP, all of the above reports 
have been issued to JAQU in draft form, and are now subject to approval.

9.5    The evidence base that will underpin the Full Business Case (FBC) is still 
being developed. Evidence was supplied to JAQU where it was possible to do 
so, with the recognition that the Notes represented a work-in-progress and 
that more work is required to properly understand the implications of the 
analysis from a policy, delivery, legal and analytical assurance perspective. 

Page 36



13

9.6   Contents of the supplementary Evidence Notes:

 ‘Note 1: GM CAP Data, Evidence and Modelling: post-OBC approach’ 
sets out the process being undertaken to deliver the Data, Evidence and 
Modelling requirements in support of the FBC. It also describes the evidence 
to be supplied to JAQU and how this responds to the feedback received from 
JAQU and the Technical and Delivery Independent Review Panels (the T-IRP 
and D-IRP).

 ‘Note 2: GM CAP: Next steps for data collection and the development of 
analytical tools’ provides information about further data collection and the 
development of tools planned as next steps, namely behavioural research of 
van drivers and other groups; the development of further Operational Cost 
Models for other vehicle types; on-street specialized goods vehicle surveys; 
and the analysis of evidence emerging from the Conversation and other 
bodies.

 ‘Note 3: Analysis of the freight market’ describes the number of Heavy and 
Light Goods Vehicles operating in GM, the compliance status of those 
vehicles, and the business and usage patterns of those vehicles.

 ‘Note 4: Analysis of the coach market’ describes the number of coaches 
operating in GM, the compliance status of those vehicles, and the business 
and usage patterns of those vehicles. This evidence, and that contained in 
Note 3, is being used to inform scheme design and to support the 
development of analytical tools and modelling assumptions.

 ‘Note 5: GM CAP ANPR Surveys: Summary of Initial Findings’ sets out 
the results of an ANPR survey conducted in January 2019 at 42 sites across 
GM. The survey was designed to provide a representative profile of the 
vehicle fleet operating in Greater Manchester in terms of vehicle type 
(including fuel used) and age profile, in order to update the previous data 
used in the OBC with a more comprehensive and robust dataset. The results 
show that there are not major differences between observed levels of 
compliance in the overall GM fleet between the 2016 and 2019 surveys. This 
data set is now being used widely as part of the ongoing work to refine the 
proposals as part of the FBC development for the CAP.

 ‘Note 6: GM CAP: Behavioural response assumptions and available data 
sources’ sets out evidence gathered from a number of sources offering an 
insight into the vehicle markets in question and how they might respond to the 
range of measures proposed in the GM CAP. These include Stated 
Preference surveys that have been carried out by other CAP authorities 
(Sheffield and Bradford) and shared with GM.

 ‘Note 7: LGV and HGV Operational Cost Models’ describes a new 
analytical tool that has been developed in support of the GM CAP allowing the 
assessment of behavioural responses to a CAZ based on operational costs by 
vehicle type for HGVs and LGVs. It is proposed that this tool replaces the 
methodology for assessing behavioural responses as applied in the OBC.

Page 37



14

 ‘Note 8: GM CAP: HGV Behavioural Responses’ sets out what behavioural 
response assumptions were applied at OBC for HGVs, the revised 
behavioural assumptions proposed for future analysis based on the HGV 
Operational Cost Model, and proposed next steps for analysis.

 ‘Note 9: GM CAP: LGV Behavioural Responses’ sets out what behavioural 
response assumptions were applied at OBC for LGVs, the revised 
behavioural assumptions proposed for future analysis based on the LGV 
Operational Cost Model, and proposed next steps for analysis.

 ‘Note 10: GM CAP: Taxi Behavioural Responses’ sets out what 
behavioural response assumptions were applied at OBC for Hackney Cabs 
and Private Hire Vehicles (PHVs), and consider a possible approach to 
updating these assumptions based on evidence derived from stated 
preference surveys carried out in Sheffield. It sets out proposed next steps for 
analysis, including the development of an Operational Cost Model for Taxis 
(Hackney Cabs and PHVs). 

 ‘Note 11: Analysis of Bus Upgrade Options to Deliver Air Quality 
Compliance’ was produced in response to a request from JAQU for analysis 
scaling the proportion of bus compliance required to deliver compliance. 
Practically, this approach is very difficult to test in a way that would represent 
a real-world operational scenario that could be delivered as part of the CAP. 
Note 11 therefore presents two approaches to understand the influence of 
buses on compliance with the Air Quality Directive: 

o how many of the GM bus service routes pass the predicted 
exceedance locations and the number of buses this represents 
compared with the GM bus operator vehicle fleet. 

o how many of the modelled exceedances would remain if the preferred 
option (Option 8) excluded bus improvements at all (i.e. a CAZ that did 
not include buses as a type of vehicle to be charged).

 ‘Note 12: Evidence of the impact of 2021 implementation of a CAZ C 
(without exemptions)’ describes analysis carried out by GM to assess the 
risks of implementing a CAZ C in 2021 without also implementing a two-year 
sunset period as was proposed in the OBC. The Note sets out analysis of 
vulnerability by sector, based on the proportion of the fleet that would be non-
compliant in 2021 compared to 2023; analysis exploring the risk of market 
distortion and the potential impact on small businesses; and analysis of the 
likely availability (or lack of availability) of second-hand compliant vehicles.

 ‘Note 13: GM CAP Study: Traffic Impact on Neighbouring Authorities’ 
presents the results of highway modelling carried out to assess the likelihood 
and potential scale of traffic re-routeing to avoid a CAZ.

 ‘Note 14: GM CAP Local exceedances Update’ sets out GM’s approach to 
identifying and assessing sites where further measures may be required in 
order to achieve compliance in the shortest possible time. The Note presents 
the results of analysis carried out to assess real-world traffic conditions and to 

Page 38



15

compare these to model outputs, and analysis of NOx source apportionment 
and any local conditions affecting concentrations, such as canyons, including 
checking how accurate the representation of such conditions is in the model 
itself. It also sets out an update on work carried out to identify possible local 
solutions.

 ‘Note 15: Implications of the EFT update for GM’ considers the implications 
of Emission Factor Toolkit (EFT) version 9.1a, released by JAQU at the end of 
May 2019. GM’s methodology for calculating traffic emissions applies 
emissions factors has been derived from DEFRA’s Emission Factor Toolkit 
(EFT) version 8.0, which was originally released in November 2017. Version 
9.1a of the EFT contains fleet figures which have resulted from a recent 
Department for Transport (DfT) project to develop new passenger car fleet 
projections in light of emerging evidence regarding changes in consumer 
purchasing behaviour which show a shift away from diesel cars and towards 
petrol cars, alongside a slowing in overall new car sales.

 ‘Note 16: GM CAP: Sensitivity testing of a CAZ C in 2023 with revised 
behavioural response’ presents the results of a sensitivity test of the impacts 
of a CAZ C (without any supporting measures) in 2023, applying revised 
behavioural responses for HGV, LGV, PHV and Hackney Cab. The bus 
upgrade was assumed as 100% for the purposes of this test. This test was 
conducted at the request of JAQU.

 ‘Note 17: Evidence supporting the decision not to progress with a GM-
wide CAZ D’ sets out the options appraisal process applied at OBC and 
presents further evidence explaining why it is not considered that a GM-wide 
CAZ D cannot bring forward compliance.

 ‘Note 18: Minibus vehicle research’ describes the number of minibuses 
operating in GM, the compliance status of those vehicles, and the business 
and usage patterns of those vehicles.

 ‘Note 19: Taxi and Private Hire vehicle fleet research’ describes the 
number of taxis and PHVs licensed and operating in GM and the compliance 
status of those vehicles. This evidence, and that contained in Note 18, is 
being used to inform scheme design and to support the development of 
analytical tools and modelling assumptions.

 ‘Note 20: Greater Manchester Specialised Goods Surveys: Results 
Summary’ sets out the results of on-street surveys carried out at three sites 
identified in the local exceedances study where freight was a significant 
contributor of emissions. The surveys provide estimates of vehicle volumes by 
size, compliance status and industry.

 ‘Note 21: Sensitivity test: Full Electric Bus Fleet’ describes the results of a 
sensitivity test carried out to understand the impact on compliance of a fully 
electric bus network across GM. This was carried out as a theoretical test at 
the request of JAQU.

Page 39



16

 ‘Note 22: Addendum to Note 3: GM Comparative Statistics’ presents the 
results of analysis carried out at the request of JAQU to test the 
reasonableness of GM’s assumption that the region was typical of the UK in 
terms of economic and business activity. It acts as an Addendum to Note 3.

 ‘Note 23: Summary update of ongoing work on local exceedances’ 
provides an updated position on the local exceedances project, acting as a 
follow-up paper to Note 14 which was supplied to JAQU in draft three weeks 
earlier.

 ‘Note 24: GM CAP: Updates to the Modelling Tools post-OBC 
Submission for the Do Minimum scenario’ describes a series of 
improvements that have been made to the underlying assumptions in the Do 
Minimum modelling scenario, in particular reflecting the release of EFT v9.1a 
and newly available data on bus services and fleets.

 ‘Note 25: GM CAP: Modelling the impacts of Sustainable Journeys 
Measures’ sets out the methodology that has been developed to test the 
impacts of a package of sustainable journeys interventions, and the results of 
those tests.

 ‘Note 26: GM CAP: Analysis of Funds’ sets out how the available tools 
have been used to assess the impact of different funding offers in terms of 
likely uptake and impact on behavioural responses. This analysis has fed into 
the assessment of the funding offers, alongside other evidence.

 ‘Note 27: GM CAP: Demand Sifting Tool Operating Manual’ describes the 
Demand Sifting Tool and acts as a manual for use, setting out the 
underlying assumptions and methodology within the Tool. This Note has been 
developed to meet the TIRP request for further detail on the operation of the 
Tools.

 ‘Note 28: GM CAP: Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Operational Cost Model’ 
describes a new analytical tool that has been developed in support of the GM 
CAP allowing the assessment of behavioural responses to a CAZ based on 
operational costs by vehicle type for Hackney Cabs and Private Hire Vehicles. 
It is proposed that this tool replaces the methodology for assessing 
behavioural responses as applied in the OBC.

 ‘Note 29: GM CAP: Option for Consultation Modelling Summary’ 
presents the results of a series of tests of the updated Do Minimum 
scenario and of the full package of measures proposed for consultation for the 
GM CAP. Test have been carried out for 2021, 2023 and 2025 and analysis 
has been carried out to estimate the forecast year of compliance, shown to be 
2024 with the proposed package as per the Ministerial Direction. As such, this 
Note supersedes Note 16, which acted as an early test of a simplified CAZ-
only scenario using an interim  version of the updated tools. 

Page 40



17

9.7    The reports, save for those marked with an asterisk, will be published once 
they have been approved. Upon publication, copies of these reports will be 
available at: https://cleanairgm.com/outline-business-case, under the title 
‘Technical Notes’. 

9.8     Those reports marked with a single asterisk (*) are unfinished documents and 
will remain unpublished until the beginning of the consultation. 

9.9    As such, it is considered that the reports referred to above fall within the 
exception under regulation 12(4)(d) EIR and that, in all the circumstances of 
the case, the public interest in maintaining the exception outweighs the public 
interest in disclosing the information. Subject to the comments at 9.10 in 
relation to report number 11, all the reports referred to above will be made 
public shortly and in any event prior to statutory consultation so there will be 
an appropriate opportunity for public scrutiny of them.  It is not considered that 
the public interest would be served by disclosing at this stage drafts which are 
incomplete.

9.10    In addition, report numbers 4 and 11 marked with a double asterisk (**), 
contain commercial or industrial information in respect of which confidentiality 
is provided by law to protect a legitimate economic interest, and disclosure 
would adversely affect that confidentiality. As such, it is considered these 
reports fall within the exception under regulation 12(5)(e) EIR and that, in all 
the circumstances of the case, the public interest in maintaining the exception 
outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information.

Page 41

https://cleanairgm.com/outline-business-case


This page is intentionally left blank



1

REPORT OF THE STRATEGIC DIRECTOR PLACE 

TO THE GROWTH & PROSPERITY SCRUTINY PANEL 

27th JANUARY 2020

FOR BRIEFING

TITLE: SUMMARY UPDATE ON DEVELOPMENT ACROSS SALFORD QUAYS – 
AUTUMN 2019

RECOMMENDATION: 

That the Panel note the contents of this report.

1. Background

1.1 This report provides an overview of the strategic development activity across 
Salford Quays and is provided at the request of the Growth & Prosperity 
Scrutiny Panel.  

1.2 The update relates to specific and current development planned, or on site 
across Salford Quays and MediaCityUK.  In seeking to describe development 
across the area this report also covers other factors and activities that 
contribute to the strength or long term success of that development such as 
connectivity.  

1.3 Salford Quays is an important Economic Area for Salford and Greater 
Manchester.  It contributes a major centre for new jobs and homes.  Its 
impact and draw extends across the region and beyond.  With MediaCityUK 
set to double in size, Salford Quays is positioned to benefit enormously. The 
council’s long relationship with Salford Quays has been rewarded with an 
environment that has been transformed into a space where people want to 
spend time and an environment that supports growing numbers of high 
quality jobs as well as new homes.  

1.4 The report is structured as follows: 

 Context

 Development: A description of new development and inward investment 
underpinning the dynamic growth of homes and jobs across the area. 

 Connectivity: What is being done in terms of transport to connect 
communities from across Salford and to break down barriers.  

Page 43

Agenda Item 6



2

 Next Steps: Explaining activities to further deepen and grow the area’s 
place-making potential and experiential assets.

2. Context

1.5 The Salford Quays area is a broad geography that directly covers the basins 
and surrounding land that once made up the Salford Docks.  Its wider 
influence and ecosystem can be understood to meet Weaste, Ordsall and in 
particular Ordsall Riverside.  Conjoined to the city centre by Ordsall 
Riverside, Salford Quays forms a continuous part of the Regional Centre.  

1.6 Whilst the Salford Quays growth area looks broadly across this wider 
geography, this report focuses directly on the immediate geography of 
Salford Quays that made up the former docks, this includes Exchange Quay 
and for the purposes of this report the Soapworks and the Foundry 
(Appendix A).  

1.7 The council’s long established regeneration activity in Salford Quays has 
been as a result of a number of bold and ambitious decisions over time: from 
the purchase of 37ha of completely derelict land that formed 
Salford/Manchester Docks; through the imaginative masterplan of 1985 and 
it’s even more ambitious revised plan of 1988/89; At key times the council 
have led by example directly promoting, either through financial support or 
political leadership, the delivery of key assets including; the Lowry Arts 
Centre (Now GM’s most popular visitor attraction), Metrolink rail extension to 
Eccles and the link to MediaCityUK, The Watersport’s Centre and the 
ongoing work to aerate and cleanse the basins. 

1.8 In 2004 the council, with Central Salford URC and Peel Holdings, responded 
to a proposal to relocate BBC Sports and Children’s departments to a city in 
the North.  The Quay’s Point site proved to be the perfect proposal and 
MediaCityUK was developed between 2006 and 2011, along with the BBC, 
the University of Salford chose to open a campus and a number of 
businesses located on the site.  SCC have a lease at the Landing which has 
proven to be a successful incubator and entry point for a number of 
homegrown businesses, creating space for an ecosystem of businesses 
from multinationals to start-ups.  MediaCityUK has been an outright success, 
with over 8,000 people working across the site and in 2013 ITV chose to 
rehouse Coronation Street nearby and locate their offices into MediaCityUK 
itself.  

1.9 Along with the Imperial War Museum (IWM) North in Trafford and the Lowry 
Outlet Mall a central core has developed where people now choose to come 
and dwell. 

3. However, there is still much more to achieve.

Page 44



3

2. Development

2.1 Salford Quays and MediaCityUK, are experiencing a boom; as well as 
significant recent housing developments there are significant strong 
business stories that are deepening the areas resilience and quality offer.  
This critical mass of development is proving to be a powerful attractor for 
further investment.  

2.2 The area has a significant economic potential. Recent figures show that 
MediaCityUK directly accounts for up to 8,000 jobs with up to 30,000 people 
employed across the wider area of Salford Quays.  The 2040 growth 
strategy seeks to double that figure with an ambitious strategy seeking to 
grow the number of people living there from circa 3,000 to 10,000 homes 
and close to 60,000 jobs.

2.3 A recent economic study has suggested that to reach the full potential 
Salford Quays should grow by 3,000 homes and 30,000 sqm of office space 
on average every five years. Completions for homes in 2018-2019 are 924 
units with 1,500 projected for completion in 2020/2021. Salford Quays has 
been identified at a regional level as one of the main areas needed to deliver 
strong housing growth.   

2.4 The increased council tax and business rates portfolio of a strongly 
performing centre such as MediaCityUK and Salford Quays will also deliver a 
more sustainable financial platform for the council in times with increasing 
budgetary pressures.  In 2018/19 the Quays strategic growth area, reported a 
significant amount of investment activity including:
 924 residential units completed

 18,298 sq.ft commercial floorspace completed

 £98m private sector investment

 £1.3m additional council tax receipts

 £209,000 additional business rates receipts

Recently Completed Salford Quays & MediaCityUK

 Peel Media – Lightbox and Greenrooms – 478 apartments (Complete 
2019 (Greenrooms to Complete Early 2020))

 Glenbrook - Erie Basin – 270 Apartments (Complete 2018)

 Amstone Developments - Clipper’s Quay - 649 apartments (Complete 
2018)

 X1 Blocks 1 & 2– Michigan Avenue – 550 apartments (complete 2019)

 Peel L&P - The Vic (Redevelopment of 115,000 sq ft) 

 BUPA – 2,000 jobs, purpose built offices (Completed Oct 2018)

Page 45



4

On Site Development Salford Quays & MediaCityUK 

 Fortis – Furness Quay – 700 apartments (on site)

 X1 Blocks 3 & 4– Michigan Avenue – 550 apartments (complete 2020)

 X1 – Trafford Road – (stalled development due to restart after previous 
contractor fell into administration)

 Bricks Capital – Discovery Quay Phase 1 - 402 bed student housing

Schemes Awaiting Decision

 Anchorage Gateway – Anchorage Quay – 290 apartments 

 Brick Capital  - Discovery Quay Phase 2 - 457 bed student housing 

Future Anticipated Development across Salford Quays and 
MediaCityUK

2.5 There are significant opportunities at scale beyond the individual applications 
mentioned above.  These wider opportunities will subsequently influence the 
character of the next phase of development.  They celebrate the original 
principles of public realm and waterside development but seek to realise the 
economic potential.  The plans set out the majority of the growth and change 
over the next five to ten years and represent a continued expansion of the 
concept of Salford Quays and MediaCityUK.

2.6 These new schemes expand the use and function of the neighbourhood as 
part of the Regional Centre:  Mixed Use, with active ground floors, busy 
during the day with offices, and alive into the evening with an increased 
population who call Salford Quays home.  This is an opportunity to maximise 
the opportunities around the technology and innovation that coupled with the 
waterfront environment make Salford Quays an attractive place to call home.   

See Attached Plan Appendix B.  

Lowry Outlet Mall - Watergardens

 Redesigned shopping mall with new food and beverage offers facing the 
waterfront. 

 New pedestrian link to the footbridge maximising opportunities to attract 
new visitors from the Trafford Park Metrolink line. 

 New 2,500sqm immersive leisure visitor attraction.  Regional level 
attraction linked to ITV I’m A Celebrity…Jungle Challenge. 

 Enhanced cinema with enhanced Vue Cinema offer. 

 Enhanced green space and public realm.   

Page 46



5

MediaCityUK Phase 2-3

 Masterplan occupying the site of the former Pie Factory (MediaCityUK 
Phase 2-3)

 Given approval for Reserved Matters September 2016. 

 The approval included permission for 1871 apartments, 51,506 sq ft of 
office space, 4,280 sq ft of Live work units and 5,155 sq m of retail and 
Leisure and a new multi-storey car park as well as supporting landscape.

 Opportunity for the area to attract a more diversified business audience 
who want Grade A offices at an innovative technology and digital hub. 

Michigan Ave

 1500 units were given Outline Approval for the area west of Michigan 
Avenue as a further extension to MediaCityUK.

 Reserved Matters are being drawn up with an application due imminently. 

 The principle includes provision of a central connecting public realm to 
MediaCityUK.  It will also make provision for improvements for 
surrounding public realm.  Off- site contributions are being sought to 
deliver improvements to the public realm surrounding Broadway metrolink 
stop connecting new development into the rest of Salford Quays and 
MediaCityUK.    

MediaCityUK East (Phases 4-7)

 To the east of phases 2-3, towards Broadway roundabout, lies the 
remaining and future areas that will for MediaCityUK East (formerly 
referred to as phases 4-7).  It is seen as a companion piece to the earlier 
phases with more jobs and homes accompanying a dynamic environment 
making full use of the digital connections.

 It is still at an early stage with propositions yet to be development 
however there is a commitment to work with stakeholders to explore the 
full potential of the area.

Waterfront Quay/Cotton Quay 

 New development proposed to replace extant Outline Application for 600-
800 units, 2016. 

 The scheme will be known as Cotton Quay referencing the commodity 
originally transported from the docks. 

Page 47



6

 The proposal suggests delivery of up to 1500 homes, including a 46 
storey tower and includes two new hotels (298 bed and 250 bed).

 Enhancements include more public realm along with a managed Lido, 
Park, Car Park with roof top playground complete with climbing wall and 
new waterside activity planned.

 Improvements to the Metrolink stop have also been included as well as 
highways improvements.   

 A decision on this application is expected in the new year.

Inward Investment

Business Success headlines 

2.7 The strength of Salford Quays as a business brand has seen a number of 
businesses locate to be near to or participate in MediaCityUK.  From fashion 
brands to health companies the broad link is that they are connected by the 
use of ‘tech’ and the desire to be in a centre so well served by digital assets.  
It is true to say that even traditional sorts of companies are becoming 
embedded in ‘tech’.  

2.8 Kellogg’s are an example who relocated their head office in January 2018 to 
MediaCityUK.  Talk Talk also moved their HQ from London to their offices at 
the Soapworks, growing their presence from 1250 to 1650 people on site 
(15% of which are resident to Salford), they are projected to be Salford’s first 
FTSE 100 business.  

2.9 Other Business moves include: 

 Expansion AJ Bell 206 new jobs on top of 450.

 BUPA 300 new jobs on top of 3000

 CGI move 200 jobs to Salford Quays. 

 The ‘Vic’ refurbishment of key first generation landmark building to 
provide new grade A offices.  

2.10 Vodafone chose to launch their 5G network from Salford Quays and have 
located the Technology Innovation Centre at the Landing.  Thereby making 
use of MediaCityUK’s natural asset of being one of the best digitally 
connected sites in Europe with 22 miles of fibre-cable and built in digital 
latency designed to accommodate the latest media technological 
advancements. 

The Innovation Triangle

2.11 The Innovation Triangle as set out in the Salford Industrial Strategy 
describes a wider development and investment narrative that links Salford’s 

Page 48



7

leading centres of Innovation.  It articulates a series of connections that are 
already being made between the University of Salford, Salford Royal NHS 
Foundation Trust and MediaCityUK/ Salford Quays.  

2.12 The hospital employs close to 8,000 people which is a similar figure to the 
numbers employed at MediaCityUK.  As the hospital seeks to push the 
innovation envelope it is increasingly looking towards tech skills and 
capabilities from MediaCityUK, including 3D printing or data management. 

2.13 The flow of knowledge, data and people between MediaCityUK Campus and 
University of Salford is obvious and will strengthen further with the selection 
of a private sector partner to deliver the join Crescent masterplan in the new 
year.  

2.14 There are opportunities across the Innovation Triangle to grow this 
connection, to develop ideas into new businesses at the forefront of 
development whilst also providing a wider ecosystem and ladder progression 
from Incubator, through Accelerator to mature business. The Innovation 
Triangle is in a unique place to take advantage of both talent and access 
with the physical space to provide innovative new businesses the full range 
of spaces required.  

2.15 There are of course interventions required to improve access and transport 
but also opportunities to focus on attracting new investment and funding by 
promoting the advantages across the geography.  To deepen the learning 
opportunities for the local population extending the talent pool, access to 
new jobs, extend the digital infrastructure whilst also shaping development 
across the Innovation Triangle. 

2.16 This Innovation District will encourage further quality economic growth in 
higher value high skilled well paid jobs in productive sectors building on the 
assets that already exist in the area.

4.0 Connectivity 

2.17 As the area grows it is important that the public transport infrastructure 
grows to support it.    

2.18 Evidence from MediaCityUK is that a higher proportion of people travel to 
work by public transport and cycling than most other workplaces.  Recent 
Travel to Work data for the BBC showed that 32% got the Metrolink at least 
2 days a week and 20% cycled 2 days or more. 

2.19 Adding to this general picture, monitoring from the Eccles Metrolink has 
shown that during rush hour the trams are at or just above capacity from 
Ladywell onwards towards the Salford Quays area. Buses are well used but 
are limited by routing, capacity and facilities.  

See Attached Plan Appendix C.

Page 49



8

Highway improvements: Trafford Road

2.20 Trafford Road forms a significant gateway to Salford Quays, it is book-ended 
by the M602 roundabout and White City Roundabout.  Both roundabouts 
have capacity issues but Trafford Road has traffic delays surrounding each 
of the junctions.  As well as movement along the road, it is perceived as a 
barrier for those crossing between Ordsall and Salford Quays. The Trafford 
Road improvement scheme, currently at consultation, includes: 

 optimisation of the traffic signals, provision of additional traffic lanes to 
assist turning traffic, and improved facilities for pedestrians and cyclists. 

 approximately £20m to facilitate the scheme, with funding from: Greater 
Manchester Combined Authority (GMCA) Growth Deal Fund; GMCA 
Mayor’s Cycling and Walking Challenge Fund; and, Section 106.   

 The scheme is anticipated to be on site between 2020 and 2022. 

 Connect the improved junctions on Trafford Road into the Mayor’s 
Challenge fund such as the Ordsall filtered neighbourhoods.

2.21 The council will continue to secure additional funding to improve travel times 
for public transport and commuters.   

Opportunities to improve walking and cycling 

2.22 Salford have been leading across GM providing proposals for the Mayor’s 
Challenge Fund to improve walking and cycling connections.  

Ordsall Filtered Neighbourhood

 Ordsall Filtered Neighbourhood was approved as part of Tranche 4.  This 
scheme provides enhancements across Ordsall, connecting with the new 
Trafford Road junctions, providing strategic connections between Salford 
Quays and the city centre via the pedestrian cycle link adjacent to the 
Ordsall Chord.  

 The scheme is at design stage with an early engagement consultation 
launched in November 2019.  

 Consultation is based on the Commonplace platform and is currently live, 
it can be found here:https://ordsallfilteredneighbourhood.commonplace.is/

Innovation Triangle

2.23 A tranche 6 (the 6th round of funding), within the Innovation Triangle, bid was 
submitted by Salford City Council to TfGM for the development of the 
Innovation Triangle cycle link which would continue the Liverpool Street 

Page 50

https://ordsallfilteredneighbourhood.commonplace.is/


9

scheme to Salford Royal NHS Foundation Hospital whilst also enhancing the 
connections past the two colleges along South Langworthy Road to 
MediaCityUK.  The route would then marry into an improved public realm 
provided by the Michigan Avenue scheme adjacent to Broadway Metrolink 
stop.  

Public Transport: Buses and Metrolink 

Bus 

2.24 Bus travel is limited across Salford Quays and is primarily structured around 
the 50 service.  The regular 50 service connects Pendleton Interchange and 
Salford Crescent rail station allowing interchange.  The 50 service drops off 
and picks up at the central ‘Bund’ and is a key service particularly for 
students moving between campuses.  Facilities are limited and the number 
of passengers often exceeds the space available in the waiting facilities.   

2.25 There are services connecting with the rest of Salford such as 13, 27, 73 & 
79 but there is a general perception that bus travel is more limited from other 
areas in Salford.  It is recognised that for much of Salford, direct services are 
limited.  

2.26 Work is progressing to:

 Explore new opportunities for Salford Quays with regards to new and 
improved bus services.  

 Develop new and improved services along Ordsall Lane making use of 
s106 already collected for this purpose.  

 Improve the experience of using the bus service, enhancing crossings to 
and from bus stops, as well as a review of shelters.  

Metrolink 

2.27 Salford Quays and the Metrolink are synonymous with each other and for 
many visitors to Salford. 

2.28 The Eccles line is now a strong success, with services at or close to capacity 
during peak times.  In 2018 there were approximately 13,600 trips per day 
made by an estimated 6,800 passengers, trip numbers per annum increased 
403,000 to 421,000 across the year.   New trams have been ordered to 
increase capacity across the network. 

2.29 Furthermore the new Trafford park line will increase metrolink capacity to the 
Quays and is expected to launch in early 2020.  

2.30 The following developments will enhance the local service offer:

Page 51



10

 Michigan Avenue and Waterfront Quay - will include access 
enhancements to existing Metrolink stops.  

 Upgrades will include new shelters, associated facilities and new 
supporting public realm.  The suggested improvements will bring new 
active ground floor uses to the areas surrounding the Metrolink stops that 
will help create enhanced and safer environments.  

Opportunities: Metrolink Extension

2.31 The 2040 Greater Manchester Transport Strategy and the GMSF confirm the 
opportunity to link the Quays and Salford Crescent with a new light rail/ 
Metrolink connection.  

2.32 The proposed Metrolink expansion to the Crescent will open the north-west 
of Salford to quick and reliable connections to Salford Quays. 

5.0 Conclusion

2.33 Works being progressed across Salford Quays are comprehensive and the 
Regeneration Team will continue to work with key stakeholders to deliver the 
potential growth in the area and all of the related opportunities. 

2.34 The development in the area has been substantial, but the opportunity is 
bigger.  The waterside offers a unique environment that is the attraction both 
for business and for homes.  To realise the full economic potential the 
regeneration team will continue to develop quality spaces and places for 
residents, continue to promote exemplar and best practice throughout new 
development and whilst supporting more jobs, homes and continue to 
support fast and frequent public transport.

2.35 There is much to celebrate in terms of the journey of regeneration across 
Salford Quays whilst also preparing for future growth.  It can be a bustling, 
exciting place with spaces for people to dwell, spend time with family and 
enjoy.  The expanded economic impact implicated in the doubling of jobs 
found in the area is an ambitious plan.  Development activity today will 
ensure that the enhanced vision can be achieved.

CONTACT OFFICERS: 

Kurt Partington, Head of Development – 0161 779 4913

Peter O’Hare, Development Manager – 0161 779 6040

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS:

Page 52

tel:97796040


11

Not applicable. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: 

Not applicable.

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS: 

Not applicable. 

WARDS TO WHICH REPORT RELATES: 

Ordsall 

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

Harbour
City

MediaCityUK

Broadway

Anchorage

Langworthy

Salford
Quays

Exchange
Quay

Wharfside

Anchorage

Cornbrook

Quay
West

MediaCityUK

Lowry
Arts

Centre

IWM
North

Lowry
Outlet

Mal l
Watersports

Centre

Soapworks

Site Boundary

Appendix A
Plan showing Boundary of Salford Quays 

P
age 55



!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

Harbour
City

MediaCityUK

Broadway

Anchorage

Langworthy

Salford
Quays

Exchange
Quay

Wharfside

Anchorage

Cornbrook

Quay
West

MediaCityUK

Lowry
Arts

Centre

IWM
North

Lowry
Outlet

Mal l

Watersports
Centre

Soapworks

MediaCityUK

Michigan Avenue

X1

MediaCityUK East

Cotton Quay

Watergardens

Appendix B
Plan showing Future Anticipated Development

P
age 56



BUS
IMPROVEMENT

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

Harbour
City

MediaCityUK

Broadway

Anchorage

Langworthy

Salford
Quays

Exchange
Quay

Wharfside

Anchorage

Cornbrook

Quay
West

!

!

!

MediaCityUK

Innovation
Tr iangle

Lowry
Arts

Centre

IWM
North

Lowry
Outlet

Mal l

Soapworks

Tr
a

ff
o

rd
 R

o
a

d

Proposed extent of metrolink in 
GM2040 Transport Strategy 

Bus Route Improvment

Cycling & Walking 
Neighbourhood Links

Ordsall Filter Neigbourhood

!

Appendix C
Plan showing Connectivity 

P
age 57



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1

GROWTH & PROSPERITY SCRUTINY PANEL

28th October 2019 

Meeting commenced: 6.00 p.m.
      “ ended: 8.20 p.m.

PRESENT: Councillor Sharpe – in the Chair
Councillors August, Critchley, Dickman, R. Garrido, Hesling, Jolley, Lewis, Nkurunziza,
Ward, Weir and Wheeler

Councillor Antrobus – Lead Member for Planning & Sustainable Development
Councillor Kelly – Lead Member for Housing & Neighbourhoods

OFFICERS: Chris Findley – Assistant Director Planning & Housing
Claire Thorn – Principal Planning Officer
Matt Doherty – Principal Planning Officer
Andrew Leigh – Head of Housing & Strategy
Mark Hart – Principal Officer People & Neighbourhood
Claire Edwards – Democratic Services

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

There were no apologies for absence submitted.

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Councillor R. Garrido declared an interest in respect of the matters recorded under Minutes 4 (Salford 
Local Plan and the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework) and 5 (Delivery of Affordable Housing) due 
to him being a Board Member of ForViva.

3. MINUTES OF MEETING HELD ON 30TH SEPTEMBER 2019

The minutes of the above meeting were agreed as a correct record.

3a. Matter Arising – 9 – Minutes of Proceedings 

Councillor Antrobus referred to the recommendation that further consideration be given to the 
suggestion that reference to the North West Quadrant Study be included under ‘Transport’ and reported 
that, following further consideration having been given to this matter, he had requested that the Place 
Business Plan be amended to include the above-mentioned reference.

RESOLVED: THAT the information be noted.

4. SALFORD LOCAL PLAN AND THE GREATER MANCHESTER SPATIAL FRAMEWORK (GMSF)

Councillor Antrobus introduced this item, informing Members of the Panel that the next formal 
consultation on the GMSF was to be delayed until summer 2020.   This had had implications for the 
preparation of Salford’s Local Plan which had previously been tracking the GMSF timetable.  Following 
advice having been sought from the Planning Inspectorate, a decision had been taken to proceed with a 
Local Plan which would have a narrower scope, excluding the elements that relate to the scale and 
distribution of development and site allocations.  There would be two separate parts to the Local Plan –

 Part 1: Development management policies and designations

Page 59

Agenda Item 7



2

 Part 2: Core Strategy and allocations

Chris Findley and Matt Doherty gave a presentation which included the following information –

GMSF
 Revised Draft Consultation (Jan – March 2019)
 17,500 respondents; 60,000 comments – being considered
 Evidence base work ongoing

o Viability assessment of land supply
o Transport implications

 DPS or SDS?
 Next version July 2020 – full council approval
 Submission: December 2020 / Jan 2021
 Examination: May to October 2021
 Adoption: December 2021

Salford Local Plan
 Revised Draft Consultation (January to March 2019)
 Around 600 comments – being considered
 GMSF delay
 Decision to advance Local Plan ahead of GMSF
 Planning Inspectorate advice
 Will be two separate parts to the Local Plan:
 Part 1: Development management policies and designations
 Part 2: Core Strategy and allocations

Local Plan: Part 1
 Scope narrowed from previous version
 Scale and distribution of development excluded (GMSF)
 Green Belt remains a GMSF issue
 Local plan development allocations deleted (non- Green Belt)
 Policies for determining planning applications
 Much of content will be familiar
 Fairness remains at the heart of the plan

Local Plan: Part 1 consultation
 Consultation: 27 January to 20 March 2020
 Process leading up to consultation:

o Will build upon previous engagement
o Cabinet Briefing – 12 November 2019 
o All Member Briefing – 27 November (two sessions)
o Cabinet Briefing – 10 December 2019
o Council – 15 January 2020

 Note the Publication of the plan
 Determine that the plan is submitted after consultation 

o City Mayor – 15 January 2020
 Approve the plan for consultation

o End of call-in period

Local Plan Part 1: further stages

 Submission: May 2020
 Examination: September to October 2020
 Estimated adoption: May 2021

Local Plan: Part 2
 Core Strategy and allocations

Page 60



3

 Scale and distribution of development 
 More spatial in Nature
 Dependent on GMSF progress / timetable:

o Draft consultation – Late 2021
o Publication – Autumn 2022
o Submission – Early 2023
o Examination – Mid 2023
o Estimated adoption – Spring 2024

Planning Obligations SPD
 SPD was adopted in June 2015
 Consultation on a Draft SPD – Jan to March 2019

o Account of changes to national policy, guidance and legislation
o General improvement in viability

 September 2019 update to planning practice guidance
o No new formulaic approaches in SPDs
o To be examined through local plans

 Potential for legal challenge to adoption
 Scope of SPD review narrowed

2015 SPD Refresh
 Adopted SPD to be refreshed
 Cannot go above 20% affordable housing…but

o More of the city now 20%
o ‘By negotiation’ rather than ‘No requirement’ – lower value areas
o 20% affordable private rent in build to rent schemes (at 20% discount)
o Bigger changes to be through local plan (part 1)

 Reference to ‘pooling’ removed – CIL reg changes
 Viability assessments to be published

Proposed SPD Timescales
 Cabinet Briefing: 12 November 2019
 Cabinet for decision: 26 November 2019
 Call-in period following decision
 Adoption 5 December 2019

o Applies to all non-determined applications following this date

Discussion took place which included reference to the following –

 Salford was the only one of the ten Greater Manchester authorities that had consulted on a Local 
Plan at the same time as the GMSF which it was considered was likely to have resulted in some 
confusion for members of the public.  It was indicated by officers that, where a response had been 
submitted to the wrong consultation, it had been referred to the correct consultation.  Officers also 
considered that consulting on the two documents at the same time had benefits as communities can 
understand the complete picture with regard to housing supply – other districts did not benefit from 
this.

 It was asked how the response to the GMSF consultation was split between local residents and 
developers.  It was indicated by officers that there had been an overwhelming response from 
residents, and that the vast majority of the responses related to allocations and loss of Green Belt 
for new housing.  

 Some developers’ responses were seeking higher levels of housing and more family homes in the 
city, including some aspirational housing.  Concerns were expressed about the over-provision of 
large dwellings as they wouldn’t be affordable to many households.

Page 61



4

 It was asked whether there will be further consultation on the GMSF.  Officers confirmed that there 
would be further consultation on the GMSF.

 The need to take into consideration the continually changing position with regard to the housing 
land supply was highlighted.  It was explained that ongoing updates to the land supply are 
undertaken.  

 It was explained that there would be possible opportunities for the involvement of members of the 
public during the examination stage, which would be determined by the planning inspector.

 It was asked what the status of the GMSF/Local Plan allocations are before the plans are adopted.  
It was explained that anything in Green Belt remains in the Green Belt, and therefore a presumption 
against development continues.  It was noted that SCC has only approved the RHS Bridgewater 
against Green Belt policy.  Closer to adoption, weight in new policies increases but this depends on 
level of objection to individual policies.  It was noted that the policies on social value and fairness 
have received limited comments from developers and some developers have expressed interest in 
maximising social value in recent meetings.

 It was asked whether article 4 directions and the control of HMOs are covered in the Local Plan.  It 
was explained by officers that article 4 directions are not part of the plan, but the part 1 local plan 
contains a criteria based policy which would ensure that the conversion of houses to uses such as 
HMOs is carefully controlled.

 With regard to the Planning Obligations SPD Refresh –
o It was noted that the proposed approach to affordable housing should deliver higher levels of 

affordable housing than that currently being delivered.
o The publication of viability assessments was welcomed – information was provided 

regarding the complex process involved.
o The importance of the inclusion of a clawback mechanism within Section 106 agreements in 

the event that the viability of a development has improved by the time of completion. 

 Briefings that would be taking place for all Elected Members during November which Panel 
Members were encouraged to attend.

RESOLVED: THAT the content of the presentation and comments be noted.

5. DELIVERY OF AFFORDABLE HOMES

Andrew Leigh and Mark Hart presented a report identifying the actions that were being undertaken to 
deliver more affordable housing within the City.  The report recognised that there was strong demand 
for affordable housing within the City with homelessness and housing demand continuing to increase, 
and that the delivery of new affordable housing to meet this demand was a significant challenge. A total 
of 224 affordable homes had been delivered in 2018/19, predominantly by Registered Providers 
partners, and there was a current committed pipeline of 1158 new affordable homes going forward to 
2023/24. The report outlined the actions that the City was undertaking including working with 
Registered Provider partners and through direct delivery to deliver more homes.  The report recognised 
that the delivery of affordable housing also had a number of wider economic and social benefits levering 
in £569m of investment, providing construction jobs and bringing in revenue for the City – including 
council tax and new homes bonus receipts.

The Panel were presented with information regarding the following –

 Definition of affordable housing
 Context
 Affordable Housing Delivery 2018/19
 Highclove – Arcon
 Pendleton New Build – Together
 Future Affordable Housing Delivery

Page 62



5

 Duchy – Great Places and Derive
 Future Affordable Housing Delivery
 Charlestown – Derive
 Refresh of the Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) on Planning Obligations
 Further Future Planning Changes

Discussion took place which included reference to the following –

 The inclusion of supported and independent living projects within the work that was being 
undertaken with existing and new partners to deliver more affordable housing.

 Work that was being undertaken with officers in Adults’ and Children’s Services to obtain an 
improved understanding of the supported housing needs in the city and how they could best be met.

 Planned development that was to be undertaken by existing providers in the city.

 Commitments to develop, and future opportunities to develop, that were being pursued by 
organisations who had previously had a presence in Salford but had not recently undertaken any 
delivery activity.

 Conversations that were taking place with a number of new providers wishing to develop in the city.  
Reference was made to the possibility that increasing the number of Registered Providers could 
lead to more competition for sites which could lead to them becoming more expensive.  It was 
indicated that conversations would be undertaken with providers regarding suitable prospective 
sites.

 The introduction of community led housing projects into the city’s housing market - reference was 
made to work having been undertaken with SALT / Inspiring Communities Together and The 
Broughton Trust to deliver a number of homes to be owned and managed by them.  Such projects 
would deliver up to 60 homes across various sites with the city acting as the lead developer.

 Plans for the city to take a direct role in the delivery of affordable housing, acting as the lead 
developer and contracting directly with construction companies to build homes, with the intention 
that those homes would be owned and managed by a range of organisations including community 
led housing organisations, Derive or other providers.  Reference was made to Derive’s current 
Business Plan providing for 117 homes up to 2023/24 and consideration being given to how the 
capability and capacity of Derive could be increased to deliver more.  

 The city having been successful in bidding to Homes England for £7.7m of grant supported by 
£5.1m of borrowing to deliver 101 homes across four sites.  Reference was also made to work that 
was being undertaken with the GM Hive for a development of 100-115 homes at Swinton Cemetery 
site (there would be an opportunity for Derive to purchase some of those homes).  Reference was 
also made to other council land that could be brought forward for development for direct delivery.

 The importance of providing mixed tenure developments in order to facilitate mixed communities.

 Due to affordability issues in Salford, concern regarding affordable rents and living rents not being 
affordable.  It was reported that work was currently being undertaken with regard to living rents in 
Salford.

 A requirement for four-bedroom properties – it was noted that although more people were waiting 
for one-bedroom properties, the turnover in respect of four-bedroom properties was much slower. 

 The occupants of affordable homes being less likely to own a car – reference was made to the need 
for consideration to be given to how residents would access employment, schools, shops, health 
and leisure facilities, etc.

Page 63



6

RESOLVED: THAT the content of the report and comments be noted.

6. ITEM FOR INFORMATION – MAYOR’S WALKING & CYCLING CHALLENGE – WALTHAM FOREST 
SITE VISIT

RESOLVED: THAT the information regarding a recent site visit to ‘Mini-Holland’ in Waltham Forest, a 
project funded from the Mayor’s Challenge Fund, consisting of 13 schemes to make the area safer for 
walking and cycling, be noted.

7. DRAFT WORK PROGRAMME 

RESOLVED: THAT the Draft Work programme be noted.

Page 64



GROWTH & PROSPERITY SCRUTINY PANEL
DRAFT WORK PROGRAMME JANUARY TO JUNE 2020

Date (meetings to 
commence at 6.00pm)

Agenda Item(s) Lead Officer(s)

24 February 2020  Mayor’s Cycling & Walking Challenge Fund Scheme Prioritisation and Bidding Update.

Item for information
 Development Update – City Centre Salford

Shoaib Mohammad

9 March 2020  Salix Homes – review of stock transfer agreement Lee Sugden, Salix Homes

23 March 2020  Homelessness Update 

 Derive Update 

Andrew Leigh/Janice Lowndes

Andrew Leigh

April 2020 No Meeting (run up to elections)

May 2020 (Date TBC)  Salford Crescent and University Masterplan – Partner Update 

Items for Information
 Greater Manchester Western Gateway
 Bridgewater Canal Update
 RHS Bridgewater Update

Kurt Partington

22 June 2020  Place End of Year Performance Update Sarah Ashurst

Abeyance List
 Salford’s approach to Climate Change
 Greening the City (Greenspace Strategy/City of Trees)/Carbon Reduction Management

P
age 65

A
genda Item

 8



2

Portfolio of the Board: Membership (12 Members):

1. Physical regeneration
2. Business investment and programmes
3. Planning, housing and transport strategy and delivery
4. Pendleton PFI
5. Urban Vision
6. Housing: (Citywest, Salix client and private)
7. Environmental sustainability
8. Climate change
9. To discharge the Council’s scrutiny functions as a lead local flood 

authority
10. To scrutinise the Council’s business plan and budget in this functional 

area.

Councillor August (VC)
Councillor Critchley
Councillor Dickman
Councillor R. Garrido
Councillor Hesling
Councillor Jolley
Councillor Lewis
Councillor Nkurunziza
Councillor Sharpe (C)
Councillor Ward
Councillor Weir
Councillor M. Wheeler

P
age 66


	Agenda
	3 Revenue and Capital Budget Monitoring 2019/20.
	4 Place Service Group Performance Report.
	5 Update Report on Greater Manchester's Clean Air Plan: Tackling Nitrogen Dioxide Exceedances at the Roadside.
	6 Item for information: Summary Update on Development across Salford Quays.
	Appendices A-C Plans

	7 Minutes of previous meeting.
	8 Work Programme.

